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Tuesday, November 26, 2024
--- On commencing at 9:36 a.m.


PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Good morning, everyone.  Just to advise before you make your presentations that, if you are going to use an acronym, for the benefit of the court reporter, please spell out or enunciate the full name of your corporation.  This will make it easier for the court reporter.  Thank you very much for that.

Today, the Ontario Energy Board is conducting a virtual, transcribed pre-hearing conference on an application filed November 8th, 2024, by the NQS Generation Group.  The application is requesting that the OEB review a set of amendments to the market rules made by the Independent Electricity System Operator, referred to as IESO.  Those market rules are MR00481-R02 to R13.  The application requests that the OEB revoke the amendments and refer them back to the IESO for further consideration.

The Board has assigned the file number EB-2024-0331 to this proceeding.  My name is Bob Dodds.  I will be presiding on this pre-hearing conference.  Joining with me are Commissioners Patrick Moran and Anthony Zlahtic.

The OEB issued Procedural Order No. 1 on November 19th, 2024, which made provision for a pre-hearing conference to hear oral submissions on intervention and cost eligibility requests, cost responsibility, the issues list, the evidentiary matters, and a proceeding schedule.

Having reached that point, before we proceed on with the rest of the conference, can we please have the land acknowledgement.
Land Acknowledgement


MS. ING:  The Ontario Energy Board acknowledges that our headquarters in Toronto is located on the traditional territory of many nations including the Mississaugas of the Credit, the Anishinaabeg, the Chippewa, the Haudenosaunee, and the Wendat peoples.  This area is now home to many diverse First Nations, Inuit, and Métis Peoples.  We also acknowledge that Toronto is covered by Treaty 13 with the Mississaugas of the Credit.  We are grateful for this opportunity to gather and work on this land and recognize our shared responsibility to support and be good stewards of it.  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.  Are there any appearances?

MR. VELLONE:  Good morning, Commissioners Dodds, Zlahtic, and Moran.  My name is John Vellone, and I am counsel for the Non-Quick Start Generation Group, referred to as the NQS Generation Group.  I am going to apologize in advance for the raspiness in my voice.  I am getting over a cold and am working remotely, as you can see, today, just to keep everyone safe.

With me this morning is my senior associate, Colm Boyle, and Colm is going to do what he can to help navigate us through the electronic materials today in an effort to try to speed up the proceeding and make things a little bit more efficient.

I did review the list of participants, and I may have missed someone.  My understanding is several of my clients may be popping in and out throughout today, but I will cover the ones that I have seen.  The first is Chris Sutherland, director of the commercial management at Capital Power; next, Noralyn Vasquez, manager of contracts and settlement at Atura Power; and, third, Salvatore Provvidenza, senior manager of commercial operations at Northland Power; as well as Rémi Tremblay, head of legal, Northland Power.  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.

MR. ZACHER:  Good morning, Commissioner Dodds.  It is Glenn Zacher appearing on behalf of the IESO, and with me are my colleagues, Patrick Duffy and Lesley Mercer.  And I should add that there are representatives of our clients who are listening in, including James Hunter, senior legal advisor with the IESO, and Andrew Bishop, who is a senior regulatory representative with the IESO.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you, Mr. Zacher.  From SEC?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  From consumers corporate corporation, CCC?

MR. GLUCK:  Good morning, Commissioners.  My video just went out.  Sorry about that.  I am here.  My name is Lawrie Gluck.  I am consultant to the Consumers Council of Canada.  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.  APPrO?

MR. ANDERSON:  Good morning, Commissioners.  My name is Colin Anderson.  I will be acting on behalf of the Association of Power Producers of Ontario today.  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.  FirstLight?

MS. GOYAL:  Good morning.  Reena Goyal for FirstLight.  I also have with me Stephen Somerville, vice president of Canadian operations for FirstLight.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Your name again, sorry, please?

MS. GOYAL:  Reena Goyal, G-O-Y-A-L, first initial R.


PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.  I believe that's all the appearances.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  On behalf of OEB Staff, good morning, Panel.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Oh, right.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I am Ljuba Djurdjevic, always the last, counsel to OEB Staff, and with me on behalf of Staff are Michael Bell, Freed Akhter, and Tobias Hobbins.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you very much, Ljuba.  My apologies for forgetting Staff.  We see you so much.
Preliminary Matters


On preliminary matters, it is the Panel's understanding that a schedule today was created by OEB Staff and circulated to the parties for their input.  The Panel will use the schedule to guide today's pre-hearing conference.  Adjustments in the schedule may be made during the pre-hearing conference as circumstances require or allow it.  The aim is to complete the pre-hearing conference today.

The Panel is advising parties that the decision on intervenor status and cost eligibility and cost responsibility is being reserved until the next procedural order is issued.  In the balance of the pre-hearing conference, there may be changes in the scope and issues that the intervenors may have more substantive input in.  This additional insight will be of assistance to the Panel.

Before we move on to preliminary matters, or on to the rest of the conference, the parties are reminded that during presentations they may experience loss of internal connection or suffer poor audio quality, in which cases the hearing will be paused and the court reporter will be directed to stop transcribing the proceeding.  The affected party will have five minutes to rectify the problem.  In the event the matter cannot be resolved quickly, the OEB Panel will make a determination on whether to adjust the schedule and continue or to adjourn the hearing.

One of the first preliminary matters, the first item, to deal with is if there is any objection to Commissioner Zlahtic and Commissioner Moran from the parties.  You were all presented with their backgrounds and their previous affiliations with some of the parties, and, based on their past affiliations, are there any objections?  I know that IESO and NQS have already indicated no objection to Commissioner Zlahtic, but we have added information from Commissioner Moran, and this is the time for the intervenors to also register any objection to these commissioners being on this Panel.

MR. VELLONE:  The NQS Generation Group has no objections to either Commissioners Zlahtic or Moran.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Excuse me, Commissioner Dodds.  Sorry to interject.  When we were registering appearances, I think we overlooked Hydro-Québec Energy Marketing.  Are they represented here today?

MR. FLEURY:  Yes, hi.  I thank you for reminding.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Oh, my apologies for that.

MR. FLEURY:  It's all right.  My name is Marc-Antoine Fleury.  I am the representative for HQ Energy Marketing.  Our counsel for this application is Marie-Ève Cayer.  Thank you.  And no opposition to the commissioners being on the Panel.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.

MR. ZACHER:  Commissioner Dodds, the IESO does not have any concerns or objections to either Commissioners Dodds or Zlahtic.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  It's Commissioner Moran or --


MR. ZACHER:  Moran, sorry.  I am sorry.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.  Okay, thank you.  Any other objections, or at least attestation of no objection?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  SEC has no objections.

MR. GLUCK:  CCC also has no objections.

MR. ANDERSON:  APPrO has no objections either, thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.

MS. GOYAL:  No objections.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Having completed the preliminary matters, we will move on to the schedule which you all received late last night and we are asking for the intervenors to make brief presentations on why they want to intervene and why they think their intervention will be of value to the Panel.  First up on my list here is SEC, Mr. Rubenstein.
INTERVENTION REQUESTS / COST AWARD ELIGIBILITY AND COST RESPONSIBILITY

Submissions by Mr. Rubenstein


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Commissioners.  The School Energy Coalition represents the interest of Ontario's public school who are significant consumers of electricity in Ontario.  SEC submits that we meet the test for a substantial interest under Rule 22.02 of the OEB's Rules of Practice and Procedure.  Rule 22.02 of the OEB's rules requires that, and I am quoting:

"The person applying for intervenor status must satisfy the OEB that he or she has a substantial interest and intends to participate responsibility in this proceeding."


And it further states:

"A person of substantial interest, if they have a material interest that is within the scope of this proceeding, for example a person that, (i), primarily represents a direct interest of consumers, e.g. ratepayers, in relation to services that are regulated by the OEB."


SEC meets that test as it is a material interest that is within the scope of this proceeding and represents the interests of consumers.

As consumers and ratepayers of electricity in Ontario, SEC has a substantial interest in the NQS generators' application for review of the market rule amendments at issue in this proceeding, which are intended to operationalize the IESO's market renewal program, MRP, the most significant change in Ontario's wholesale electricity market since market opened.  At the highest level, the MRP program is -- MRP is intended to more efficiently schedule, commit, and dispatch resources with the aim of reducing system cost to the benefit of electricity consumers.  Based on the IESO's estimates, it intends to provide in the first 10 years about $700 million in benefits to consumers.

The NQS generators' application seeks to challenge the MRP amendments, could materially impact the cost of electricity consumers will have to pay in the future, and at the very least increase costs due to delay of implementation of MRP if their relief is granted.  At its core, the overarching complaint is that they will be paid less by the IESO under the MRP market rule amendments than under the current market rules.  You can see this in paragraph 10 of their application.

This is the type of material interest that Rule 22 discusses when it uses the example representing the direct interest of ratepayers.  Many of the changes that are part of MRP that the NQS generators explicitly mention in their application, in their view, will result in harm to them, such as optimization across all hours -- this is in paragraph 9(a); elimination of the real-time generator cost guarantee program, this is included in paragraph 9(b); and that they expect to make less revenue as a result of the make-whole payments and locational marginal pricing, as compared to congestion management settlement credits and HOEP -- this is in paragraph 9 -- are changes to the market that have been repeated and consistently been mentioned by the OEB's Market Surveillance Panel as far back as 2010, and in some cases earlier, and the 2017 Auditor General's report's chapter on the IESO.

They are current IESO practices that result in higher costs than optimal being borne by customers.  The IESO has consistently said that MRP is how it plans to address those issues.

SEC has been involved in each of the IESO's OEB fees applications involving MRP over the years, where it has been asked, and the OEB has approved included in the fees that are paid by customers, the costs of the MRP.  MRP has been a significant focus in the revenue requirement and fees applications for a number of years, and based on the most recent MRP budget, the total cost is expected to be about $233 million. These MRP amendments and their implementation is the benefit that ratepayers are expecting as a result of spending that money on the MRP program itself.

SEC provides an important and different perspective from the applicant, but also the IESO and even OEB Staff, who have a broader mandate, understandably.  SEC represents the interests of ratepayers who are paying for electricity supply and are meant to benefit from those amendments, and they are directly affected by that application.  The revenues of the NQS generators are the costs paid by electricity consumers.

The Electricity Act, like the OEB Act, requires the OEB in fulfilling duty in reviewing the market rules to protect the interests of consumers.  While the applicant focuses on certain purposes of the Electricity Act that they say that the MRP amendments are inconsistent with, that the OEB must actually consider all of the objectives of the Electricity Act, and that includes protecting the interests of consumers, the voice of ratepayers in this proceeding is thus critical.

SEC was the only ratepayer intervenor in the most recent market rules review, that's EB-2019-0242, and where we believe we provided significant value to assist the Board in its deliberations.  We were also granted intervenor status and we say provided value in the RES generators review in the 2013-0010 application.

With respect to participation, while SEC will be an active participant, we do not plan to file evidence.  We do not plan to expand the issues list.  And as we have already had discussions with CCC to coordinate our participation where appropriate.  We don't plan to make any submissions regarding the issues list or the relevant evidentiary disputes that exists currently between the applicant and the IESO.  We understand that the main parties are the applicant and the IESO and we will tailor our participation accordingly to ensure that we act responsibly as we always do.

Finally with respect to cost eligibility, SEC requests cost eligibility pursuant to the practice direction of cost awards, where it is eligible for award of cost, pursuant to section 3.03(a) of the practice direction.  SEC has consistently been found eligible, including in a most recent market rules amendment review in that 2019-242 proceeding.

With respect to costs responsibility, SEC recognizes there is a difference of opinion between the IESO and the applicant on this point.  All I can say is SEC's position is unchanged from previous market rules reviews, where we have taken the position that non-applicant costs should be appropriately borne by the IESO, on the basis that this process is really the last step in the broader market rules amendment process was initiated by the IESO.  Those are our submissions.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you very much, Mr. Rubenstein.  Commissioner Zlahtic, you indicate you don't have any further questions.  Commissioner Moran, do you have some questions of this intervenor?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  No, I don't, Mr. Chair.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you very much. Can we have the presentation from the Consumers Council of Canada, please.
Submissions by Mr. Gluck


MR. GLUCK:  Good morning, Commissioners.  The Consumers Council of Canada is materially impacted by the NQS Generation Group's application for an order of the Board to revoke the market rule amendments associated with the market renewal program and refer them back to the IESO for further consideration.  CCC represents residential customers that pay electricity commodity rates that are designed to cover the total cost of electricity generation as calculated based on the Ontario electricity market price and the global adjustment.

The market renewal related amendments to the market rules are designed to provide overall benefits to electricity consumers including residential customers by reducing the total system cost, which underpins the cost recovered from all customers.  If the NQS Generation Group is successful in having the OEB revoke the market rule amendments that are at issue, the outcome could be the dilution of the benefits that customers are expected to result from the market renewal program, or alternatively, even if there was somehow no dilution of benefits, it would likely delay the implementation of the MRP, which is currently expected to be implemented in May 2025, and likewise delay the associated benefits that would have been derived beginning on that date.

We note that the actual incurred cost of the market renewal program as of June 30th, 2024 is $204 million.  And that cost has been collected or, if it is not already collected, will be collected from customers through the IESO fees.  We have invested significant funds to date in this program with the goal of seeing reduced system costs and other benefits in the future, and to see all that effort and cost to be derailed at this late stage is not in the best interest of customers.

CCC has always been granted intervenor status when it has been requested, as residential ratepayers that, along with the other customer groups, cover all the costs reflected on the electricity bill.  We have a significant interest in matters that may materially impact those costs.  In this proceeding those costs are associated with the commodity portion of the bill.

In terms of our planned level of participation in this proceeding, that is still undecided.  And this is in no way a critique of the OEB's process in this case.  We fully agree that there is a need to move forward at an accelerated pace, but we do not know now how prominent our role will be in this proceeding.

With respect to the pre-hearing conference today, we do not intend to make any submissions on cost responsibility, the issues list and the NQS disclosure request.  We can advise, however, that we will not be filing any evidence in this proceeding.

We can also advise that we will participate responsibly in this proceeding, as we always do, with a view to minimizing the costs of our intervention.  And, in that regard, we will work closely with the School Energy Coalition to coordinate our efforts.

Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you, Mr. Gluck.  Before we proceed on, Commissioner Moran, do you have any questions of this intervenor?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Just a quick question.

Mr. Gluck, can you just help me understand how your process of cooperating with SEC would actually work in practice?  And the reason I think we are interested in that is we are in a tight statutory timeline on this, and we have to make sure that all the issues get fully canvassed and everybody is treated procedurally fairly, but that we also get this done as efficiently as possible in order to meet the statutory timeline.

So help me understand how you and Mr. Rubenstein would propose to work together, particularly given that you are in support, it sounds like, of the IESO proposal.  And how would you work with the IESO, as well?

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you, Commissioner Moran.  And I apologize that my video will not turn on right now.

But in terms of coordination with the School Energy Coalition, Mr. Rubenstein and I will work together in terms of discussing the application and the evidence that is filed.  We will coordinate our efforts with respect to questioning at the technical conference, assuming there is a technical conference and, similarly at the oral hearing, if there is an oral hearing.  I would expect that we would coordinate our efforts directly on those matters.

And with respect to a submission, I would expect that we would file separate submissions in this proceeding.  But we would coordinate those submissions to ensure that there is no duplication of effort.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  And in terms of working with Mr. Rubenstein, is CCC planning to hire separate counsel?  Or would you be coordinating, including the use of legal counsel?

MR. GLUCK:  We would certainly be coordinating with Mr. Rubenstein with respect to counsel.  There is no plan to file -- to hire separate counsel.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.  Thank you, Commissioner Moran.  Commissioner Zlahtic?

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Yes.  Good morning, Mr. Gluck.  The question -- if you answered, I apologize -- is has CCC been following the market rule amendment consultations and have you reviewed the IESO's proposed market rule amendments that are at issue in this proceeding?

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you, Commissioner Zlahtic.  In terms of your first question about following the market rule amendments, I could advise that Ms. Girvan, who is also a representative of the Consumers Council of Canada, has been -- was on, I should say, the IESO's Stakeholder Advisory Committee from 2014 to 2021.  So, in the latter years of her membership, there were discussions about the market renewal program.

I can advise as well that the IESO technical panel to its board of directors includes a residential representative.

And finally, to your second question regarding have I read the proposed market rule amendments, I can say that I have not read the market rule amendments in detail.  I have read higher level summary documents associated with the market renewal program related amendments.  And the last time that I was personally involved in market rule -- sorry, market renewal program-related issues was in the 2020 to 2021 time frame, when I was on the OEB's generation and transmission team.  And, in my role there, I was the case manager of Ontario Power Generation's 2022 to 2027 rates proceeding.

And, as part of that case, there were -- we needed to study and evaluate the implications of potential market renewal program-related changes on payment amounts, and how those items would interact with each other.  And so that was the last time that I was directly and more deeply engaged in market renewal program-related matters.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Thank you, very much, Mr. Gluck.  Those are all my questions.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you, very much.  I have no questions.

Could we have a presentation from APPrO?  I think that is you, Mr. Anderson.
Submissions by Mr. Anderson


MR. ANDERSON:  Yes, it is.  Thank you, very much.   Good morning, Commissioners.

I would like to address a few items in regard to APPrO's intervention in this applications.  I want to speak to three things, in fact:  who the association represents and how it is structured; what the association does in general; and what is the specific interest that the association has in this matter.

Additionally, APPrO is aware of the correspondence that was distributed by Board Staff on November 22, and I want to briefly respond to those specific questions.

So who is APPrO?  APPrO is a not-for-profit trade and professional organization representing companies involved in the generation of electricity in Ontario, including generators and suppliers of services and equipment.

APPrO members include developers, suppliers and consultants to power enterprises, with an emphasis on implementing responsible and sustainable energy systems in Canada and around the world.

APPrO's principal objective is the achievement of an economically and environmentally sustainable electricity sector in Ontario that supports the business interests of electricity generators.

APPrO's role in the electricity sector is to raise awareness and understanding of its members' concerns with senior decision makers in government, regulatory bodies and the public at large.

APPrO is governed by a board of directors, each a representative of a member company.  There are currently 22 directors on APPrO's board, including myself as an ex-officio member.

In terms of representation, I will solicit instructions directly from the board of directors, and use those instructions to guide APPrO's involvement in this proceeding.

There is a very clear line of accountability between myself and my board.  And if my board is unhappy with how I am representing them, there is an equally clear path to remedying that situation.

In short, I serve at the pleasure of my board, and I will diligently execute its instructions.

I would like to give you a sense of what APPrO does.  APPrO acts as an advocate for its members.  It aims to have a voice on regulatory and policy issues which affect generators in Ontario, including electricity market rules, procurement processes, the regulation of the electricity and natural gas markets, climate change rules and compliance mechanisms, transmission development, distributed generation and many other issues.

Practically speaking, APPrO engages on those issues that can impact its members.

APPrO is a leading advocate for public policies and regulatory treatments that it believes will facilitate the development of power generation in the province and assist in the development of a more open and competitive market.

With the energy transition underway and plans to build out the electricity system unfolding, APPrO's advocacy and involvement becomes even more critical.

APPrO is well known to the Board.  APPrO has been an intervenor of record on a number of applications over the years, and it has consistently conducted itself responsibly.

On previous occasions, APPrO has applied for and received eligibility for an award of costs, generally in situations where APPrO's members can rightfully be considered as consumers.

We don't believe that is the case here and so, accordingly, APPrO has not applied for cost award eligibility in this proceeding.

I would like to address why we are here today.  APPrO is generally familiar with the issues at set out in the Applicants' prefiled evidence regarding the revenue impact associated with the market renewal program market rule amendments.

We are also aware of the subsequent correspondence that has been filed by both the IESO and the non-quick start generator group in regard to the Board's jurisdiction in this matter.

This question of jurisdiction is of particular interest to APPrO.  Pursuant to its representation of generators in the province that are parties to contract, APPrO has a significant interest in whether or not section 33 applications can be brought forward by those contracted generators.

To be clear, APPrO would be deeply concerned about any potential outcome on this application whereby a generator with a contract could not advance a section 33 application to the OEB, because the Board determined it to be outside of its jurisdiction.

In APPrO's view, such an outcome would inappropriately limit the breadth of section 33, and would unnecessarily fetter the Board's jurisdiction.

While this is a key issue for the association, APPrO reserves the right at this point to engage in other issues in the proceeding as necessary to appropriately discharge its obligation to its members.

Finally, last Friday, Board Staff circulated an e-mail asking for specific information.  I am going to address each of those questions very briefly, in order.

How will you your participation assist the OEB in making a determination?  Well, as already indicated, APPrO and its approach is well known to the Board.  It intervenes in these applications.  It has done so in the past in respect of market rule reviews, and we intervene in those things that have the potential to impact its members in a material way.  Those are the only applications that APPrO will be present at.

The matter of jurisdiction in a section 33 application has just such material implications for APPrO members.  I believe the perspective of an association that represents generators will be of benefit to the OEB, who makes its decisions in the public interest.  Those decisions rely on numerous points of view to frame the very perspective that comprises that public interest.

Our presence as an intervenor represents a focused view of the interests of our members, and APPrO's actions advance the general perspective of the electricity generator.  Removing this representation and this viewpoint will make acting in the public interest more difficult since the OEB will be less informed as to what those interests are and to what motivates them.

There is a question regarding:  Have your members followed and participated in the IESO's market rule amendment?  The short answer to this question is an emphatic yes.  Since about 2016, the IESO has conducted many stakeholder sessions, in numerous different forums, to gather varied perspectives on the market renewal program, the program whose rules we are discussing.

APPrO was intimately involved in providing input to those conversations over a span of years.  In fact, the market renewal working group, the stakeholder body that was constituted for the very purpose of stakeholdering MRP, had the president of APPrO as a member, again for years.

Have you reviewed the IESO's proposed market rule amendments?  Again, yes.  APPrO has maintained contact with members of the technical panel, the stakeholder body responsible for advancing market rule amendment recommendations, and has discussed the market rule packages with them and with APPrO members.  It has also provided written feedback to the IESO and has monitored the progress of the rules through the system.  It's fair to say that APPrO has been involved in the MRP market rules from initial design to final amendment packages.

And, finally:  How do we work with other interested parties with similar interests to act as a unified voice in these proceedings?  APPrO is a seasoned intervenor, and we have worked with other intervenors in the past and will do so again.  Intervenors already collaborate and do so more broadly than just with other intervenors whose constituents may be similarly minded.  Intervenors routinely communicate with each other and will often establish lead roles on certain particular issues in order to avoid duplication and to permit a deeper dive into the evidence than would otherwise be possible if all intervenors tackled all issues.  We are happy to continue that coordination and cooperation with other intervenors.

Those are my submissions.  I am happy to answer any questions that you might have.  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you very much, Mr. Anderson.  Commissioner Moran, do you have any questions of this intervenor?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Yes, thank you, a couple questions.  Mr. Anderson, you talked about taking instructions from your board of directors, and, as I understand it, several members of the NQS Group also are members of your board of directors.  In fact, I think even Mr. Vellone, counsel for the NQS, is a member of your board.

So, given that, how does the perspective of APPrO distinguish itself from the perspective of the NQS Group in order to add value to this proceeding?

MR. ANDERSON:  That's an excellent question, Commissioner.  Thank you.  I think it has its roots in association life in general.  The association represents generators, all generators, nuclear, hydro, renewable, solar, wind, and gas-fired, including non-quick start gas-fired, so non-quick start generation is a fairly narrow slice of the membership.  And part of APPrO's need to be involved is to represent the other generators in respect of the things that they want to make sure are okay in going forward in the market.  So, while NQS Generation does in fact contain a number of my board members, it doesn't contain board members from nuclear, from hydro, from other technologies, all of whom I will be speaking to in terms of what it is that they would like me to do as part of this proceeding.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you very much, Mr. Moran.  Further questions?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Sorry, Commissioner Dodds.  I am not quite finished, a couple more questions.  All right, so the -- you mentioned that there are other generators, I guess, who may be impacted in some way by these new rules or by the amended rules, but we don't have any application in front of us in relation to those impacts.

So, again, given what we are looking at is a case that has been brought forward by NQS, in relation to that case, how do you distinguish your perspective from their perspective?

MR. ANDERSON:  And I guess I would say, specifically, there is one other intervenor, FirstLight Energy, that has applied, which is not one of the quick start generators.  I believe you will hear from them going forward.  They are also a member, so we do have one other application for an intervention, not an application to challenge the rules but an application to be involved in the process.  And, again, one of the key things for this association is the question of jurisdiction, which came up after the pre-filed evidence was submitted but before the end of the period for intervention.  I am very interested in that, as are a number of my board members who are not quick start generators.  As a result of that, the association is applying for intervenor status.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay, so you have touched on my next question, which is:  Can you help us understand what the concern is about the section 33 jurisdiction?  I mean NQS has applied for review under section 33; we are proceeding with that application, so I am trying to understand what the concern is about the jurisdictional question.  Is there anybody out there who is suggesting that we just can't have this hearing, at all?

MR. ANDERSON:  I am referring specifically -- and I hope I get the dates right because I don't have them written down.  I believe there was correspondence on November 11th from the IESO, and then a response from November 14th from the applicant, and then there may have been others after that, Commissioner.  I apologize.  I am not sure.  But there seemed to be an interest on the part of the IESO in questioning the jurisdiction as a result of -- the interaction, the way I would describe it, is the interaction between the market rules and the existing contracts that exist between the generators and the IESO.

As a result of that, there has been -- it appears to be an argument that has been advanced that perhaps the jurisdiction is challenged in that regard.  And certainly, as a result of that correspondence, APPrO would like to be involved.  And, to be clear, I have had more than one of my directors say to me:  Because of that issue, we should absolutely be there.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay, that's fine.  Obviously, we will hear further from both NQS and the IESO on whatever this amounts to from their perspective.  Thank you, Mr. Anderson.

MR. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Commissioner Zlahtic, do you have some questions?

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Yes.  Good morning, Mr. Anderson.  How are you?  Mr. Anderson, are you there?

MR. ANDERSON:  I am good.  I am sorry, Commissioner Zlahtic.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Sorry, I was expecting a response.  Sorry.

MR. ANDERSON:  I am sorry.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  This question might overlap with Commissioner Moran's question.  So that APPrO's intervention appears to me that you are looking to expand the scope of this proceeding beyond what NQS has applied for.  Am I mistaken?

MR. ANDERSON:  With respect, Commissioner, I don't think -- I can certainly tell you it is not my intention and I am not consciously doing such.  In fact, the two issues that have been put forward as issues for the hearing we are absolutely fine with.  What I am responding to is the correspondence that I saw post-filing of the pre-filed evidence, which talked about section 33 and whether or not this Board had the jurisdiction to hear the application because of -- again, my language -- the interaction between the market rule language and the language contained within the NQS generators' contracts.  I didn't advance that, but I am reacting to that correspondence with APPrO's position that the Board should absolutely have the jurisdiction to hear section 33 applications that are brought forward by generators, regardless of whether they have contracts with the IESO or not.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  I appreciate that.

MR. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you, Mr. Anderson.

MR. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Commissioner Dodds.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  FirstLight, would you care to make your presentation?

MS. GOYAL:  Good morning.  Can everyone hear me?

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Yes.

MS. GOYAL:  Thank you.  I am here on behalf of FirstLight, who is seeking intervenor status in this proceeding.  By way of background, FirstLight is a hydroelectric power producer and developer --


PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  If I could interrupt, could you give your name for the record, please?

MS. GOYAL:  Yes, of course, last name Goyal, G-O-Y-A-L, first initial R.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.

MS. GOYAL:  Thank you.  As I was saying, FirstLight is a hydro-electric power producer and developer in Ontario.  They own and operate eight transmission-connected facilities and five distribution-connected facilities in Ontario.  To respond to the questions received from OEB hearing staff last Friday, yes, both I, personally, and FirstLight have been involved in the IESO's market rule amendment consultations to date.  And, yes, we have reviewed and are familiar with the proposed market rule amendments.  FirstLight is seeking to intervene in this proceeding with respect to two areas.

First, with respect to its transmission connected facilities, which represent approximately 150 megawatts.  Like the Applicants' facilities, FirstLight's transmission  facilities are contracted by the IESO under deemed dispatch agreements.  Like for the applicants, FirstLight's deemed dispatch agreements also contain the same replacement price provisions as noted in paragraph 17 of the application.  Like the applicants, the market rule amendments can therefore cause material economic harms that are unjustly discriminatory to FirstLight.  FirstLight's participation in the hearing will accordingly assist the Board in making this determination, namely whether the market rule amendments will cause material economic harms.

FirstLight's participation will also assist the Board in determining that the market rule amendments are unjustly discriminatory, and that they are being passed before contract negotiations have been completed.  And, on that point, I would ask the commissioners to just make note of paragraphs 28 and 31 in the application.  FirstLight's participation, accordingly, will assist the Board in making this determination as well, namely whether the market rule amendments are unjustly discriminatory against a class or classes of market participants.

FirstLight intends to work cooperatively with the other parties and intervenors in this proceeding and is not seeking to file any additional evidence with respect to its transmission-connected facilities.

FirstLight also does not have any further submissions on the issues list and scope of proceeding or the evidentiary matters between the main parties in this proceeding, being the applicants and the IESO.

The IESO argues in its submissions that FirstLight should have filed its own section 33 review application, and on that basis, is opposing FirstLight's intervention in this proceeding.  Well, I ask the Commissioners:  What of it?  We would have ended up in the same place as we are today, albeit with two separate applications, likely seeking to consolidate them in any event in the name of procedural efficiency and efficacy.

This application has suffered no prejudice by FirstLight not filing a separate 33 application and, in fact, had it done so, it would have been less efficient and more costly for all the parties and OEB Staff.  So, for example, the IESO would have had to duplicate its preliminary filings and intervenors would have had to duplicate the participation requests; furthermore, FirstLight agrees with the issues for this proceeding, as identified in the Board's Procedural Order 1, and is therefore not seeking to expand the scope of this proceeding.  For these reasons, if the application is permitted to proceed, then FirstLight should likewise be permitted to intervene in the application.

The second way -- the second of the two ways in which FirstLight seeks to intervene in this proceeding is with respect to its distribution connected facilities, again, five facilities representing approximately 50 megawatts.  As part of the Board may already be aware, certain of the market rule amendments require amendments to the OEB's retail settlement code.  Specifically it will be replacing HOEP with a replacement price.  The details of which are set out on the IESO's market rule -- rather, market renewal program web page, as well as the OEB's guidance letter issued April 9, 2024.  This change in replacement pricing is anticipated to result in a material reduction and actual net market revenues received under the FIT contracts after the market rule amendments become effective and market renewal goes live in May 2025.

In respect of its distribution connected facilities, FirstLight intends to file evidence only in respect of how the market rule amendments adversely impact distribution connected generators with FIT 1 contracts specifically.  FirstLight hopes to obtain information disclosure from the IESO pertaining to the impacts to negative pricing events as a result of the MRP market rule amendments and, more specifically, the replacement of HOEP with the replacement price as reflected in the OEB's retail settlement code.  If the IESO refuses or is unable to provide FirstLight with this information, FirstLight intends to file an independent report with an analysis of the impact of the replacement price on negative pricing, thereby helping the Board determine whether the market rule amendments will cause material economic harms in an unjustly discriminatory manner.

Further, and as described by Mr. Rubenstein for SEC, given the importance of the MRP amendments specifically, and MRP generally, in FirstLight's view it is critical that the distribution connected community have some representation in this proceeding.  This is even moreso, given consumer representation is likely to be granted and that IESO is not objecting to such representation.

The principle of procedural fairness entails a reasonable opportunity for a party to do three things.  First, present its point of view.  Second, respond to facts and argument presented by others.  And third, to have their arguments considered by the decision maker.  These minimal procedural fairness rights should not be denied lightly.  And, indeed, if the Board were to deny FirstLight's intervenor request, it would effectively be tantamount to granting a motion to dismiss without notice and thereby denying FirstLight's right to procedural fairness.

Granting FirstLight an opportunity to exercise its procedural fairness rights will also not compromise the equally important principle of procedural efficiency, in that FirstLight's desired participation in this proceeding is limited and focused, again, the aforementioned evidence, which we propose to limit up to 8 pages and, coupled with the fact that it is ineligible for cost recovery from the other parties, we respectfully request the OEB grant FirstLight's intervenor request.  Thank you very much.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you, Mr. Goyal.  Commissioner Moran, do you have questions?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Dodds, I do.  So, just a couple points of clarification, and I think I heard you say that you weren't seeking to expand -- or FirstLight isn't seeking to expand the scope of the hearing, that the focus is  with respect to the issue that is raised by NQS.  With respect to the issue of whether this leads to discriminatory treatment; right?  But then I heard you in the second half of your submission talking about you want to talk about FIT 1 contracts and impacts particular to that.  So, I am trying to reconcile those two.  It sounds to me like competing statements where you're not bringing in anything unique, but NQS isn't, obviously, looking at the issue from a FIT 1 perspective.  How do you -- how would you reconcile those two points that you made?

MS. GOYAL:  Thank you, Commissioner Moran.  So, the way I read Procedural Order 1, the issues have been defined as, Commissioner Moran, as you just said, you know, whether there's material economic harm and whether that harm is unjustly discriminatory, full stop.  The procedural order, as the issues are listed therein, does not state whether the issues in this proceeding are for the Board to determine whether there are material economic harms only as to the NQS generators, or whether that harm is unjustly discriminatory only as to the NQS generators.

What the procedural order says is that we are to determine those issues with respect to a class of participants or classes of market participants.

In our view, FirstLight's participation will help the Board make that determination.  That is to say, whether there is material economic harm and whether that harm is economically -- I am sorry, whether that economic harm is unjustly discriminatory with respect to one or more classes of market participants.

And to be clear, and as I tried to emphasize at the beginning of my submissions, FirstLight is also, like the Applicants, a contract-holder.  And so, even if the Board were to take the view of whether those issues pertain to contract-holders, also as described by Mr. Anderson, our client would also fall within that group.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  All right.  I mean, I guess what I am hearing is there are two levels of concern here:  There is the kind of high-level, do the market rules as amended lead to unjust discrimination, sort of, as a principle.  And then, on a deeper dive, what does that look like in relation to FIT 1 contracts as opposed to any other kind of contract.

And, I mean, you will agree that the FIT 1 contracts are not the same as the contracts that NQS generators have.  Right?

MS. GOYAL:  No, they are different contracts.  Well, I want to be very clear:  the contracts that FirstLight has with respect to the transmission-connected facilities are very similar, in that they are also deemed dispatch agreements.

I agree with you, Commissioner Moran, that the distribution-connected contracts are distinctly different, but the purpose of introducing them is to demonstrate that there is unjust harm, and that that -- I am sorry, that there is material economic harm, and that harm is discriminatory with respect to the distribution-connected facilities.

I also want to make clear that, as I have described in my submissions, we are looking to intervene in these two areas, and one is not contingent on the other.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay, thank you for that.

The other area that I would like to get some reconciliation on is you indicated that you don't intend to call evidence, but then you went on to say that if the disclosure request doesn't go the way you want it to go, then you do intend to call evidence.  So I am just trying to understand those two as well.

MS. GOYAL:  Yes.  Thank you.  Thank you, and I apologize if it was confusing.

We are not seeking to submit any evidence with respect to the transmission-connected facilities that have deemed dispatch agreements.  We are only looking to seek to provide evidence with respect to its distribution-connected facilities.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  Thank you for that clarification.  Those are my questions, Commissioner Dodds.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you, very much, Commissioner Moran.  Commissioner Zlahtic?  You are on mute.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  It is okay, I am getting there.  Thank you.

I am looking over my written questions, Ms. Goyal.

MS. GOYAL:  Take your time.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  And I think you covered them off nicely, with the questions Pat Moran asked.  Thank you.

MS. GOYAL:  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Just a further clarification that Commissioner Moran asked:  You are not seeking to submit evidence but, on certain circumstances depending upon IESO's responses, you may wish to submit evidence?  Have I got that clear?

MS. GOYAL:  That's clear, and only with respect to the distribution facilities.  We are not looking to enter any evidence with respect to the transmission facilities.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Okay.  Thank you, very much.  Thank you, very much, Ms. Goyal.

MS. GOYAL:  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  And now, could we have HQ Energy please make a presentation.

Submissions by Mr. Fleury


MR. FLEURY:  Panel Chair, Commissioners, thank you for providing us with this opportunity to make a submission regarding our intervention request.

My name is Marc-Antoine Fleury; I am representative for HQ Energy Marketing.  We are in receipt of the Applicants' opposition to our intervention, as well as that of the IESO.  We believe that our submission today will demonstrate our substantial interest in this matter.

Quickly, about us, HQ Energy Marketing is a Canadian power marketing subsidiary of Hydro-Québec.  We are a licensed electricity wholesaler in Ontario, registered market participant in the IESO market.

As a power marketer, we buy and sell energy into the IESO market, and we also participate in other markets, such as the operating reserve and capacity auction.  And we also do the same in other adjacent markets, such as New England and New York.  And, when required, we advocate for competitive markets, clear and fair rules and practical processes.

HQ Energy Marketing seeks intervenor status in this application for two reasons:  First at issue are the market renewal program amendments that have recently been adopted by the IESO.  The Applicant, NQS Generation Group, has filed a section 33 review seeking to revoke, and refer them back to the IESO.

Since the Applicants seek to revoke all of the MRP amendments, it is essentially the entire MRP rules that would be referred back to the IESO for further consideration and, most likely, further engagement.

This could result in a delay in MRP implementation and/or to changes to its design.  In either case, our activities in Ontario would be impacted.  Operations would be impacted because of the current implementation of MRP into our system.  And our opportunities to trade in the day-ahead market in Ontario would be delayed, as well as would opportunities to participate in the virtual market, the MRP as introduced.

Secondly, contrary to the Applicants, HQ Energy Marketing does not have a generation contract with the IESO.  Also, as a market participant, we both buy and sell energy in the IESO's market.  And we therefore represent a different class of market participant.  And we believe that our different perspective would benefit the Panel on some specific items raised by the application.

And, as a market participant without a contract with the IESO, we are concerned by the arguments raised by the Applicants in this application and their implication for future market amendments.  This is notably illustrated by FirstLight's intervenor request.

We just want to point out that the IESO currently has over a hundred transmission-connected generation contracts, and other 30,000 distribution-connected contracts.

How can our participation assist the OEB?  At this stage, we can advise that we will not be filing evidence; neither will we file interrogatories.  It is our intent to limit our intervention to filing a submission on matters directly and only relevant to the scope of a section 33 review.

More specifically and subject to evidence to be filed by the Applicants, our submission could address issues raised by the Applicants at paragraph 31(b), as well as paragraph 33 of their application.

It is our understanding that the onus of demonstrating unjust discrimination falls on the Applicants, NQS Generation Group, and that they will be afforded an opportunity to file evidence.

It is also our understanding that the IESO will play an active role in this proceeding, as it has already demonstrated.  We also anticipate that OEB Staff will contribute as well.  This is sufficient for us to limit our involvement in the proceeding, given the nature and scope of a section 33 review.  We seek intervenor status to assist the Panel with comments relevant to the scope of this application, and to offer our perspective where appropriate.

We don't intend to duplicate the IESO's participation, nor that of OEB Staff.

With respect to questions shared with us Friday, I believe, have we participated in any of the IESO's market rule amendment consultation?  Absolutely, we did.  HQ Energy Marketing did participate in the IESO's MRP engagement, as well as the readiness activities.  And we are currently implementing MRP into our system to be ready for go live on May 1, 2025.

Also to the question, have we reviewed the IESO's proposed market rule?  Yes.  This is actually my job description.  HQ Energy Marketing supports MRP and the MRP amendments, as well.  And we look forward to MRP implementation, as it will introduce a day-ahead market in Ontario, as well as other market design features that are found in adjacent electricity markets where we also participate through an American subsidiary.

We don't intend to weigh in on other of the issues on today's agenda, and we are not requesting costs eligibility.

And that concludes our submission for today, available for questions, if any.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you, very much, Mr. Fleury.

Commissioner Moran?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  I have no questions.  Thank you, Commissioner.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.  Commissioner Zlahtic?

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  No questions here.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.  I have no questions.  Thank you, very much, Mr. Fleury.

And could we now have the OEB Staff give their submission or presentation.

Submissions by Ms. Djurdjevic


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.  Thank you, Commissioner Dodds.

OEB Staff does not object to any of the intervention requests, but we do believe that the scope of some intervenors' participation should be limited.

Namely, if FirstLight is granted intervenor status, its participation should not expand the scope of the application that is before the OEB, and should not contemplate matters beyond, quote, the non-quick start generators, and to include distribution-connected generation facilities.

Similarly, if APPrO is granted intervenor status, its participation should not expand the scope of the application to consider issues, according to their intervention request, that go "well beyond the NQS generators who filed the current application."

And, with respect to HQEM's proposed participation, we note that HQEM is involved in transmission, distribution, and generation from renewable energy sources and, in particular, hydro-electricity, and, if it is granted intervenor status, the scope of its participation should not expand the proceeding to considerations of generation sources other than the NQS generators.

OEB Staff believes that limiting the scope of intervenor participation is an appropriate approach in this particular case, given the unique nature of the MRP market rule amendments.  However, Staff's submission in this case should not be construed as precedential or limiting the OEB's jurisdiction in potential future cases related to market rule amendments.  OEB Staff's general position is that the OEB does have the latitude to undertake a plenary review of any market rule amendment, and, in this review, the OEB is not limited to the circumstances and issues raised in a given application.

Those are Staff's submissions.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you very much, Staff.  Commissioners Moran and Zlahtic, do you have any further questions of Staff?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  I don't, Mr. Chair.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Nor do I.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you very much.  Thank you, OEB Staff.  Now, we will have presentations from IESO on the issues of cost award eligibility and responsibility.  I think it's Mr. Zacher?
Submissions by Mr. Duffy


MR. DUFFY:  Good morning, Commissioner Dodds.  Patrick Duffy speaking for the IESO.  I will handle the issues of interventions and cost eligibility.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Okay.

MR. DUFFY:  D-U-F-F-Y, first initial P.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.

MR. DUFFY:  And I want to start -- well, what I want to do is just talk quickly about the IESO's overall position.  I am going to go through the individual requests, and then finish on cost eligibility.

So you will have seen in the IESO's letter of November 11th we asked that the Board apply the criteria here stringently, and the reason for that is that there are some unique features about this application.  And the first one that's notable is what's happened here is that NQS Generation Group has appealed the entirety of the market rule amendment set for the market renewal program.  This is not a single, targeted market rule amendment as we have seen in past cases, and so that means that the scope here obviously in some respects can be boundless, and we need to make sure that that does not occur given the nature of the 120-day review.

And, secondly, there was a five-year process, and, as some of the others made reference to, even going further back in stakeholdering, that led ultimately to market renewal.  And what we shouldn't be trying to do here in 120 days is to re-stakeholder.  And so, with that in mind, we think that there needs to be, as I said, a stringent application of the test to each one of the requests.  So I will turn to each one individually.

With respect to SEC and CCC, the IESO will not object to their participation.  We understand that they bring a unique perspective that is not represented by either the applicant or others in this proceeding.  But, however, that is done on the understanding that they will not be presenting evidence in this proceeding.

Likewise with respect to Hydro-Québec; we had some initial reservations because of the insufficiency of the detail given in the initial request.  We again are satisfied that they represent a perspective that is not otherwise present, and that they have committed not to file evidence.  On that grounds, the IESO will not object to their participation.

Next, I will turn to APPrO.  The IESO maintains its objection to APPrO's participation in this proceeding as an intervenor.  And I would suggest to you that APPrO finds itself stuck on the horns of a dilemma here, and that is that either they say -- and I think we saw this in some of the questioning -- that they are not going to expand the scope of the proceeding, in which case we would suggest to you that all they are doing is doubling up on the applicant and the perspective that the applicant already brings, and so, therefore, the question becomes, Why should they be here?


Alternatively, and what we believe is actually the true intent here, given the reservation to file evidence, that they seek to dramatically expand the scope of this proceeding to include other forms of generators, in which case it is our view that the Board should not allow that and should not allow them to intervene and expand the scope of the proceeding given the already tight timelines that we face.

And I would -- you know, just to bring that into reality for us, you know, and this is a point we heard from FirstLight, as well, what happens if one of their generators had already filed a review; how are they in any different position?  Well, first of all, we would say they should have done that; that's a right that they let go.  But, secondly, had they done that, we would have an application and they would be required to file any evidence on the same timeline as the NQS Generation Group.  At the moment, we are sitting here, 20 days into this thing and several weeks out from when intervenors would have to respond or file any evidence, and we don't know what their case is; we don't know exactly what their grounds are; we are completely blind to that, and that is not fair, and it is not efficient.

On the matter of jurisdiction, I think that APPrO is dramatically overstating the case.  There is no dispute, and you can ask this question of the applicant, but there is no dispute that this Board cannot rule on contractual matters, and they have said that repeatedly in their letters, as well.  And the IESO is not taking the position that a generator with a contract cannot apply.

Indeed, the IESO is not seeking to strike this application.  The question is:  What's the scope of the evidence and the scope of the proceeding?  And that turns on the specific contracts that these generators have that we have put before you.  And Mr. Zacher will talk extensively to that later.  But I want to be very clear on that, that this is not some grand jurisdictional fight over that; it is a dispute about the scope of the evidence in this proceeding.

Next I want to turn to FirstLight with respect to their transmission-connected facilities, and FirstLight seems to have tried to split its intervention as an either/or proposition, either/or, or both.  With respect to the transmission-connected facilities, in our view they are now tripling up because they are members of APPrO and they represent the same viewpoint that other generators can bring forward.  And, if they are speaking about trying to get other forums -- so we, actually, to be clear, we don't view them as deemed dispatch agreements, like the non-quick start generators.

So, to the extent that they are now trying to bring other generators in, again we have the same opposition that we did to APPrO; they should have filed their own market review application, and, if they had, we would know what their case is, we would have an application, and we would be here today dealing with that.  And we are not because they didn't.  And so, when Ms. Goyal says that this would be akin to dismissing without notice, I ask you the question:  Dismissal of what?  There is nothing.  They didn't file anything.

So we strongly object to that, and we strongly object to the view that there would be no prejudice to the IESO by allowing their participation, for reasons I have explained.

Similarly, with respect to their distribution-connected facilities, that is clearly an expansion of scope.  It is an expansion well beyond what is being discussed here.  Of particular concern to us is that we now hear that they may be filing an independent report with analysis.  And I ask you whether that is really in -- it's very much expanding the scope and certainly not consistent with procedural efficiency.

Again, I remind you that they didn't file an application, we haven't seen that application, and that, under the proposed schedule, they would not be filing any materials until December 18th, so it would allow them quite some time.  And, had they moved, we would have to know what their case was at the beginning of November, so it is unfair to the IESO to say that they should be able to spring that upon us on December 18th.

Finally I want to deal with the issue of cost eligibility.  The IESO is pleased to see the suggestion from the Board that the applicant should bear the costs of intervenors who are cost-eligible in this proceeding and that the IESO supports that view.  The IESO is ultimately funded by ratepayers, and ratepayers should not be funding the participation of others in this proceeding, to the extent that the applicant has triggered this.

I want to address quickly what Mr. Rubenstein said, which is he viewed this as the final step in the IESO's market rule making process.  And I would just add that there is a bit of nuance to that.  I accept what he said, but the nuance is:  Had the applicants not filed this review, we would not be here.  Under the Act, the Board had a 15-day period to evaluate the rules and act on its own initiative, and it didn't do so, and so we are only here because the applicant is here in its own economic interests.  And that's fine; they are entitled to do that, but they should bear the costs of that, not ratepayers through the IESO.

The normal course in an application is that the applicant would bear the cost, and they are applicant here, and we are only here because they filed that application, so we support the suggestion or the recommendation or proposition put forward by the Board that NQS Generation Group should pay the costs of any intervenors.

That's our position on those, I would be happy to take any questions from the Commissioners.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you very much, Mr. Duffy.  Commissioner Moran?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Commissioner Dodds.  Just a couple of questions, Mr. Duffy.  So, I think my first question is more a question of principle, you are not opposing the intervention of SEC, CCC or HQEM.  And, as I understand your submission, it was on the basis that they bring a unique perspective.  What I don't understand is what difference does it make if they would call evidence or not and, you know, why would that change your position with respect to an entity bringing forth evidence that supports the unique perspective that they bring to bear.  I just don't understand that principle.

MR. DUFFY:  Our perspective on that is, as I said, at the outset very concerned about the re-stakeholdering of this process.  And so, if what the IESO is particularly concerned about, and I think you see it highlighted by, for instance what we've heard from FirstLight, is that we are getting all sorts of different stakeholder interests, all filing evidence; right?  Going in different directions.  And we are getting all of that on December 18th and, you know, we are obligated to respond in a very short timeframe.  That's our concern.

I want to be clear that, had those parties said that they wanted to file evidence, that we would have a very different perspective on that.  We are content that they can participate.  I think that, you know, each one of them falls within the grounds of the rules, but we think that their participation should be limited to making submissions on their perspective.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  I was just curious, because you did agree they had a unique perspective and that allows them to get intervenor status in your point view.  And, of course, under the SPPA, if you have a party status you can call evidence.  So, I don't understand what difference it would make that they would call evidence to support it, but that's okay.  It's a matter of principle.  They are not planning to call evidence, so I was just curious.

The other question, though, I see is the -- I think there's no disagreement that one of the questions is, you know, the extent to which the market rules create a discriminatory impact for generators that are on deemed dispatch contracts.  I mean, obviously, I don't think there is any disagreement that that's one of the questions we have to wrestle with here.

So when it comes to FirstLight, you are opposed to their intervention, but to the extent that they have deemed dispatch contracts and want to focus on that very issue, why would you oppose their intervention?  It sounds like they have a direct interest in the outcome on that issue.


MR. DUFFY:  So, first of all, we actually don't agree that they have deemed dispatch contracts.  So, that -- we fundamentally disagree with that.  They are not gas generators.  So, they are --


COMMISSIONER MORAN:  So, let me just stop you there on that point.  We don't know that; right?  I mean --


MR. DUFFY:  No, I understand.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  And they might say we do and you might say they don't, but let's assume for the sake of argument that they do, or that they at least assert that they do.  To the extent that they do, like, would you not agree they have an interest in that issue?

MR. DUFFY:  So, again, the question is their interest, it should be already represented here by the generator community.  And they are really effectively trying to triple up; right?  On top of APPrO and on of top of, in our view, the Applicants.  And our real concern here is that what they are going to do -- what they are clearly not, whatever their contracts might be, they are clearly not CHP and CES contracts, which are the two that have come forward, but it is going to expand the scope.  That's what's going to happen.


And they could have filed and, if they wanted to review they should have filed an application for review, and they didn't take that opportunity.  And they shouldn't be allowed to come around, you know, the back door and then come in, particularly given our concerns as I raised about prejudice, in the sense of we sit here and we don't know, they didn't file an application.

And to the extent they are filing evidence, they are not proposing they would do it on a timeline that would be the same as the Applicants; right?  So, from the IESO's perspective, we need to keep this focused on what the application actually is.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  So if, hypothetically, we were to say that FirstLight is allowed to intervene, but only to the extent that of the issue with respect to deemed dispatch contracts and the impact of the market rule amendments; am I hearing you say that would be okay?  Or they can't even do that?

MR. DUFFY:  Well, so, again to the extent -- again, I don't think that's the scenario that they have presented, that's not their request.  So, their request is to participate, give their perspective on their contracts, their separate distinct contracts; right?  They may say they are similar, it's the first time we had heard that today, but they are clear that they are a separate set of contracts.  That's what their putting forward to intervene on.  So, that's why we said in our letter we don't see how their request could possibly be remedied, given the clear statement of what they intend to do.  And then, likewise, you go to their distribution request for their distribution connected facilities, I mean, those are clearly an apple to oranges, you know.  We are now stepping into a whole different realm.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  All right.  I think, as I understand your submission, I think you agree that the scope of this section 33 is an issue to be addressed in this proceeding; right?

MR. DUFFY:  Correct, yes.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  And so, APPrO has identified an interest in the issue of the scope, which would presumably be of interest to all generators in principle; right?  So, if you agree with that proposition, would you agree that they have at least that much of an interest, you know, to bring to bear to at least that question?

MR. DUFFY:  So, with APPrO I think the question becomes:  What are they adding that the Applicants don't already -- what perspectives the Applicants don't already provide?  You know, the Applicants are members of APPrO; right?  Really, why is it that the Applicants effectively get to double up and bring their organization to come here?  So, that is our objection on that.

I think the other concern we have with APPrO is that we found them to be vague and, you know, there's a suggestion that they are reserving a right to bring evidence and to expand the viewpoint of the -- or expand the scope of the application.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  So, at a minimum, you'd want us to address that vagueness if we were going to grant status then, I guess?

MR. DUFFY:  I mean, if you were to grant status then, I think as we said in our letter, it would be on the grounds that they participate within scope and not call any evidence.  You know, I think unlike FirstLight, you know, their request could be remedied on that basis.  Again, as I said at the beginning, I find them at a bit of the horns of a dilemma.  Like, what is it that they then add and bring in terms of perspective that's not adequately represented?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  All right.  So, leaving that last point aside, how would you propose we remedy it in the event that we were prepared to entertain some degree of intervention here?  What would your remedy be?

MR. DUFFY:  That APPrO not be entitled to call any evidence and that APPrO be required to go with the same time as the Applicant in terms of submissions.  And -- yes.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Duffy.  Those are all my questions.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you, Commissioner Moran.  Commissioner Zlahtic?

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  I have a couple questions.  Mr. Duffy, my questions are in connection with FirstLight.  And I think I heard you say that if they were permitted to intervene and file evidence, that it would be prejudicial to your client.  And just before you -- I am not done.  That is a bit of a preamble.  Your client is a master of the market rules, they have been through extensive consultation since, what, 2016?  FirstLight has represented that they have been active in the IESO's consultation.  So, clearly, your client has to be aware of some of the issues that they are raising in this proceeding.

So it's not like, from my perspective, they are springing something on you.  I appreciate it's 20 days after November the 8th that they could potentially be filing evidence, but explain to me how this could come as a surprise to the IESO.


MR. DUFFY:  So, actually, while there's a broad stakeholder process, I am not sure that I would say the IESO would be aware of what specific issues FirstLight is bringing and, in particular, with respect to the distribution connected facilities, like, we are at a bit of a loss as to what that would entail.  What we are hearing is that they would bring an independent report with analysis.  And so, at this point we don't know what that report is, we don't know who it's coming from, and so, yes, we find ourselves in a bit of an unknown situation when we are, as you can tell from, you know, the proposed schedule, under a fairly tight timeline to respond.  So, I wouldn't say that, you know, the IESO should be assumed to be omnipotent and know all viewpoints and stakeholders views that might be brought forward by FirstLight here.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  But, I mean, potentially your client could be aware and their evidence won't come as a surprise in terms of --


MR. DUFFY:  So, again, this is the first time that, for instance today, this was the first time that we have heard about an independent report with analysis.  So, we don't know what that is, we don't know what it contains; right?  And, you know, we are not in the -- we are just not in a position at this point to be able to say, yes, we can respond to that and we know what it is.

So my point, Commissioner Zlahtic, is that, had FirstLight wanted to exercise its rights, it could have done so by filing the review, and it would have had to file that by November 7th.  And we then would at least know some sense of what their issues were.  But they haven't done that.

And here they are, nearly 20 days later, showing up for the first time talking about an independent report analysis?

And I want to be clear:  None of this relates at all to the issues that have been made by the NQS Generation Group.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Ms. Goyal talked about regulatory efficiency.  So, hypothetically, had FirstLight made its own section 33 application to the OEB, we would now have two proceedings.  The only difference is you are hearing today what you might have otherwise heard on November 7.

And I am struggling to understand how that could be prejudicial to the IESO.

MR. DUFFY:  First of all, again, that's a world that -- it did not happen.  They should have done that, if that was their viewpoint; they did not do that.

And, in a 120-day process, I would say to you 20 says is not nothing; it is actually -- you know, I mean, it is quite significant.

And so here we are today, not entirely clear what their position is, what their issue is.  We haven't had an opportunity to have a pre-hearing conference to deal -- for instance, all the issues we are dealing with now, we would have had that opportunity.

And so not only that but, again, under the proposed schedule, they would not be filing any evidence until December 18, and then have the right of being an intervenor, which means they can go after the applicant.  So these are the concerns that we have.

Had they filed their own application 20 days ago, we would have been in a different position.  We would have been able to determine whether the two should be consolidated.  We would have been able to schedule a pre-hearing conference to deal with all of the issues together, and they would be required to go at the same time as the other applicant which is -- you know, it is not what is happening here.

So those are our concerns with allowing the door to be opened to participants of this nature.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Thank you, very much, Mr. Duffy.  Commissioner Dodds, those are all my questions.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.  Thank you, very much, Mr. Duffy.  NQS Generation?
Submissions by Mr. Vellone


MR. VELLONE:  Good morning, Commissioner Dodds.

I will deal first with the issue of cost eligibility, then cost responsibility.

As more fully explained in our letter filed November 25, the NQS Generation Group submitted that HQEM had not demonstrated, at least in its notice of intervention, that it had the substantial interest in this proceeding within the meaning of section 22.02 of the OEB's Rules of Practice and Procedure.

To be candid, our view on this issue has not changed, having heard from HQEM this morning.  HQEM is not a representative of a consumer group in the province of Ontario; it is a competing market participant.

And we do not think that an intervention that is premised on what is bad for the NQS Generation Group is good for HQEM is a sufficient basis to demonstrate a substantial interest under section 22.02 of the OEB's Rules of Practice and Procedure.

With that sole exception, the NQS Generation Group does not object to the intervention requests of FirstLight and APPrO, and the NQS Generation Group does not object to the intervention requests as well as the requests for cost eligibility of both the School Energy Coalition and the Consumers Council of Canada.

Finally, we do not object to the scoping recommendations made by OEB Staff this morning, which we do think is sensible given the 120-day statutory timeline that we are working within and, in our view, frankly, addresses many of the concerns that were raised by the IESO this morning.

I do want to address one of those concerns, at least as it related to the intervention of APPrO.  There was a question my friend Mr. Duffy asked, which is what perspective are they adding.

With respect, that is not the legal test for interventions in front of the OEB.  It is a substantial-interest test.  The same question is not asked of CCC and SEC, when they both intervene representing consumer interests except as it relates to the coordination of their participation to ensure the efficient functions of the OEB's process.  And those are our submissions on cost eligibility.

I will move on now to cost responsibility.  And, as more fully explained in our letter filed November 25, 2024, the NQS Generation Group objects in the strongest possible terms to having to bear cost responsibility in this proceeding.  There are two key grounds to our objection.

The first is that this application raises legitimate and important public policy and public interest issues in relation to the criteria set out in section 33 of the Electricity Act that goes well beyond the private and commercial interests of the NQS Generation Group.

Specifically, the application raises questions around the interaction between the IESO's market rule amendments and its procurement contracts in light of the IESO's unique role, both as contract counterparty and rule authority.  At least two different intervenors, APPrO and FirstLight, have cited this very public policy issue as an important and influencing factor in their decision to intervene.

The question, if I were to put it simply, is -- sorry, in addition to that public policy issue, there is a second public policy issue this application raises, which is how should the IESO in making amendments to the market rules take into consideration the purposes of the Electricity Act.

These two important public policy issues were first raised by the RES generators in its review application in 2013, but have remained unresolved after that application was prematurely withdrawn.

And, if anything, the issues have become more pressing, not less, with the merger of the OPA with the IESO effective January 2, 2015.

The counterparty to these procurement contracts and the legal entity that is responsible for making the market rules is now the exact same legal entity.  And the question arises, what is to prevent the IESO from enacting market rule amendments that are expressly designed to extract economic value from generators under their applicable procurement contracts?

This was a live issue when the IESO and the OPA merged in 2015, and this issue found its way into the statutory regime that we are now governed by in both subsections 5(4) and 5(5) of the Electricity Act, which I will make reference to again later today in my scope-of-proceeding submissions.

In our submissions, this is a fundamental public policy issue that goes, frankly, directly to the financial viability of the electricity industry in Ontario.  And, in our view, the NQS Generation Group should not have to fund the costs of determining these important public interest questions.

There is a second ground for our objection, and I am wondering if Mr. Boyle could perhaps bring up the NQS pre-hearing letter that was filed with the Panel yesterday.

The second ground for our objection to cost responsibility is that it is entirely unprecedented and, indeed, inconsistent with the OEB's prior decisions under section 33.

SEC mentioned this in their oral submissions this morning.  The section 33 review has consistently been viewed as the last step in the IESO's market rule amendment process and that, as a consequence of that, the IESO should be responsible for these costs.

I won't walk you through my submissions; I will just take you directly to the book of authorities on the backend, and I am hoping to do this relatively efficiently.

Could we go to PDF page 64 of 249, please, and scroll down so the highlight is on the screen.  This is the OEB's decision and order on costs, issued February 2013, in respect of the RES generators' section 33 application.  And, in this determination, the OEB determined that the IESO shall be responsible for the costs of the proceeding.  In its determination, the OEB found that the IESO having to bear the cost of the proceeding is consistent with the overall legislative scheme.  The review process under section 33 of the Electricity Act is part of the overall market rule amendment process.  On that basis, the OEB determined it is appropriate for the IESO, rather than the RES generators, to bear the costs of the review.

Flip ahead to page 96.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Sorry, I missed that page reference.

MR. VELLONE:  And scroll down until the highlight is on it.  Thank you.  This is the same proceeding, but it's the OEB's decision on cost eligibility issued in March 2013.  This part of the decision relates to the RES generators seeking to recover their own costs as applicants in the proceeding.

As you can see from this extracted highlight, the OEB determined that the applicants in that case were not eligible for their costs.  And I need to emphasize this:  The NQS Generation Group have made no request to recover costs in this proceeding -- frankly, consistent with the OEB's prior determination in this regard.

Please proceed to page 103.  As you can see, just closing the loop in the final cost award, the IESO paid 100 percent of the costs of the participating parties in that proceeding.

Please proceed to page 107 and scroll until the highlight is on.  This is now the AMPCO section 33 review application decision on cost responsibility in this case, issued November 2019.  And, again, the IESO shall bear the costs of the proceeding.  The OEB remains of the view that this is consistent with the overall legislative scheme, which contemplates a review by the OEB as a potential last step in relation to market rule amendments.  Please proceed to page 114.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Well, Mr. Vellone, if I could interrupt, a lot of this is just precedents that you want to put on record.  It is in your letter, so, in the interests of time, could you summarize?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.  The summary is what I started with, and it is that holding the NQS Generation Group responsible for the costs of intervenors in this section 33 application is entirely unprecedented and inconsistent with all prior decisions on section 33 of the Act.  And, towards the back end, I also include a decision on section 35 of the Act.  So that is in a nutshell the basis for our objection.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.  Commissioner Moran?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  A couple of questions, Mr. Vellone:  Just to confirm, the only intervention that you are opposing is the intervention of HQEM; is that correct?

MR. VELLONE:  Correct.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay, and, as I understand it, the basis on which you are opposing it is that they are a competing market participant?

MR. VELLONE:  The basis of our opposition is that they still, in our view, do not meet the substantial interest test under section 22.02 of the OEB's rules.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  All right.  So I am looking at the purpose section in the Electricity Act, for example section 1.  It says:  "The purposes of this Act include the following, to provide generators," so you would be in that category, "retailers, market participants," so I guess you would also be in that category, and so would HQEM and FirstLight and consumers, which I guess would be represented by SEC et cetera and CCC, "with non-discriminatory access to transmission and distribution systems in Ontario."

Now, we are dealing with an issue of discrimination, so I am trying to understand how you would isolate the perspective of one participant from all the other participants that you are prepared to agree to participating in this process.  I am trying to understand the logic here.

MR. VELLONE:  Commissioner Moran, I am not sure I would agree that this application in any way triggers that particular purpose of the Electricity Act.  There are no allegations being made around non-discriminatory access, either to a local distribution system --


COMMISSIONER MORAN:  All right, well, let's [audio dropout] --


MR. VELLONE:  -- [audio dropout] --


COMMISSIONER MORAN:  -- [audio dropout] --


MR. VELLONE:  -- [audio dropout]?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Let's look at another purpose, the "to promote the economic efficiency and sustainability in generation, transmission, distribution, and sale of electricity."  There are several purposes here, but what I am really trying to understand is how, on what basis, would you try to isolate one participant's perspective from the other ones that you don't object to.  I am trying to understand the logic there.

MR. VELLONE:  Sure.  If you read that purpose of the Act, I am not sure HQEM falls in any of those buckets.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  So you would suggest that they have no interest in the economic efficiency of the market?

MR. VELLONE:  I am just not sure they are a enumerated stakeholder that you have to take into account.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  So, as a market participant, they are not a stakeholder that has an interest in market rules?

MR. VELLONE:  I will have to be careful here because I do not have the Act open in front of me as you do, but my recollection is that, for that particular purpose of the Act, market participants are not listed.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Well, nobody is listed in the promotion of economic efficiency and sustainability.  I mean, your clients aren't either, so, again, I don't understand the logic here of on what basis you would isolate one market participant in comparison to FirstLight, who is also a market participant and has its interests, and APPrO, who represents a whole bunch of market participants, not just generators but others who are also members.  And I am just -- I just want to understand the logic to isolate HQEM from the rest of the herd.  Like, what makes them different?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.  Our view is simple, and you can weigh it in consideration of everything you heard this morning, which is that, frankly, cutting it all away, it appears that the basis of their intervention is nothing more than, what's bad for my clients is good for them, and we do not think that's a good enough reason to meet the substantial interest tests.

We are in the fortunate position of not having to make that determination; that is of course yourself and your colleagues.  We thought our views on it would be helpful, and they are such as I presented them.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  All right.  So, on the basis of what you just said, it's, you know:  What you say is bad for you, they say is good for them.

To the extent that that's underpinned by the positions that people are able to establish in relation to whether it amounts to discriminatory treatment, I mean, are they not allowed to weigh in on that?

MR. VELLONE:  I just don't -- I don't see what interest they have in an unjust economic discriminatory treatment of NQS generators, other than the theory that I just put to you, what's bad for us is good for them.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  To the extent that you can establish that that's the case; right?

MR. VELLONE:  There is facts, yes.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  All right.  On the cost issue, so we are talking, just again to be clear, we are only talking about any cost award that might be made to intervenors, SEC and CCC; right?

MR. VELLONE:  Understood.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  And as I understand your submission, that the generators who have triggered this review, shouldn't have to bear that cost because of the public interest impact of the proceeding, and that this is unprecedented.  Are you suggesting that because the OEB has ruled in a particular way in previous proceedings that it's not allowed to rule it any other way in subsequent proceedings?

MR. VELLONE:  No, Commissioner Moran.  You know as well as I do there is no stare decisis from prior OEB decisions.  But I just do not see what has changed anywhere in the legislative scheme for the OEB's prior determinations that this is not much -- a section 33 review is not much more than a last step in the IESO's overall stakeholder engagement process as it relates to market rule amendments to arrive at a different conclusion.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.  Those are all my questions, Commissioner Dodds.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you, Commissioner Moran.  Commissioner Zlahtic?

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  All good here, thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Okay, thank you very much. We will take a break, a morning break, until 11:35, and we will convene again at 11:35.  Thank you very much.
--- Recess taken at 11:18 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:42 a.m.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  I see all the commissioners are here, and the everyone else is ready to go, Ljuba.

So we will proceed with item No. 11 on the agenda, issues list and scope of proceeding.  And the first up is NQS Generation, Mr. Vellone.
ISSUES LIST AND SCOPE OF PROCEEDING

Submissions by Mr. Vellone


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Commissioner Dodds.

I will deal first with the issues list topic, and then move on to the scope of proceedings topic.

The NQS Generation Group filed a letter on November 22, pursuant to which we accepted the issues list as framed in Procedural Order No. 1, although, as is the case with the benefit of hindsight, I noticed an error in my own letter when reviewing it last night.  So while this is perhaps obvious, I am going to be explicit and correct it:  The legal test under section 33 is inconsistency with the purposes of the Electricity Act, not the OEB Act, as my letter incorrectly suggested.  My apologies.

With that, I will move on to our submissions on scope of proceeding.

In our view, this topic goes directly to the IESO's unsubstantiated and in our view unjustified claim that the OEB does not have jurisdiction in this review application to hear certain evidence about what they are calling out-of-market contracts that is, in the submissions of the NQS Generation Group, directly relevant to the unjustly discriminatory impacts of the MRP amendments on the generators.

I first want to address the use of the terminology, "out-of-market contracts."  I do not accept this characterization.  Anyone that has considered the financial settlement mechanism in these contracts would recognize that they operate in a manner that is intricately integrated with the operation of the IESO-administered markets in such a way that it is frankly impossible to understand the actual economic impacts of a particular market rule amendment on a generator without considering both the impact of that rule change as well as how that change flows through the applicable contract.

For this reason, I am going to use the terminology, "procurement contracts", which is the terminology that is used in the statutory regime we are governed by.

I would like to point out that this is not the first time the IESO has challenged the OEB's jurisdiction in a section 33 review application.  Rather, it is part of a pattern of behaviour of utilizing what I would characterize as aggressive litigation tactics in an effort to gain advantage in these review applications.

Specifically, the IESO did the exact same thing in the AMPCO section 33 review application in that case, regarding certain DR resource claims, demand response resource claims, that their ineligibility for energy payments constitutes unjust economic discrimination.

Ultimately, the OEB rejected the IESO's jurisdictional challenge, and heard the totality of AMPCO's evidence before making a final decision.

The NQS Generation Group is asking the OEB to take a similar approach in this proceeding.

The NQS Generation Group filed an initial response to the IESO's claim by letter dated November 14, and a more comprehensive set of submissions in writing, yesterday, on November 25.  And I am not going to go through all of those.

In short, and as more fully described in our written submissions, we combed through the Hansard records related to the section 33 review process and found nothing to support the IESO's argument.

We did a deep dive on the case law of the power of review, which is summarized in our submissions and which, in our argument, has generally been interpreted broadly, not as narrowly as the IESO suggested.

We carefully examined the wording of section 33 of the Act, the purposes of the Electricity Act and in particular the purposes found at subsections 1(d), 1(g) and 1(i) of that Act, as well as the OEB's responsibilities under subsection 1(1) of the Ontario Energy Board Act.

And in our submissions, the OEB would be unable to meet its broad responsibilities under section 1 of the OEB Act, or conduct the full scope of review that is required under section 33 of the Electricity Act, if the IESO's argument around narrow jurisdiction were to be accepted.

This morning, I would like to bring forward a further consideration for the OEB's Panel that relates to my submissions on the jurisdictional issue.  And I am wondering, Mr. Boyle, if you could briefly pull up sections 5(4) and 5(5) of the Electricity Act.

In our submissions, the legislative assembly turned their minds to exactly this issue, the interplay between the IESO market rules on the one hand and procurement contracts on the other, back when the IESO and the OPA were merged.

As you can see, section 5 of the act is titled, "Amalgamation of the IESO and OPA."

At that time, there was considerable concern amongst market participants and generators in particular that the merger of the IESO, the entity responsible for the IESO market rules, and the OPA, the counterparty to various procurement contracts, would ultimately result in the IESO being able to enact market rule amendments that were expressly designed to extract economic value from generators under their applicable procurement contracts.

Subsections 5(4) and 5(5) were the legislative assembly's response to that concern.

And I will note a few things; I won't read them out.  The first is that the legislative assembly imposed binding obligations on both the IESO and its board of directors as it relates to its contract function and its market operations function.

The legislature did not, and I want to stress this, amend or attempt to restrict the scope of the OEB's section 33 review process.  Rather, the legislature imposed binding obligations on the IESO under subsection 5(5) that directly mirrors the legal test for a review application under section 33.

In our submissions, this is a clear indication that the legislature intended that counterparties to prior OPA contracts were to rely on the OEB's review process under section 33 if the IESO chose to act in a manner that was unjustly discriminatory or inconsistent with the purposes of the Electricity Act.

Finally, I will note that both subsections 5(4) and 5(5) are both enforceable provisions under the OEB Act which can give rise to enforcement activities, should the OEB determine it is merited.

I will move on; you can close this, if you like.

These submissions of course do not address some of the more practical concerns we have raised with the IESO's arguments, of which there are two.

The first is assume for a moment that an unjust economic discrimination case brought by a market participant as a result of a market rule amendment was completely alleviated by way of a procurement contract.  Wouldn't the OEB Panel want to know this when making its determination under section 33?  I would think so.  And I actually suspect the IESO would be filing that evidence, itself, should the facts be reversed.

The second practical concern is that the IESO should not, in our submissions, be permitted to contract out of the OEB's statutory review of market rule amendments under section 33.  My friend Mr. Duffy spoke to this briefly this morning, and maybe I will understand better when he lists his jurisdictional argument after me.  But, on our reading of what they have submitted so far, it would be an absolutely absurd outcome if the IESO were permitted through contract to somehow rob the OEB of its jurisdiction to review market rule amendments under section 33.

The IESO will no doubt bring your attention to contract re-opener provisions and somehow argue that those are the generators' sole and exclusive remedy.  It is not our intention, despite the IESO's efforts otherwise, to attempt to litigate contractual matters before the OEB.  However, evidence of the impact of the market rule amendments on NQS generators, including evidence of the impact under their deemed dispatch contract, is clearly relevant to the OEB's adjudication and determination under this section 33 of the Act.

What I suspect the IESO will not mention when they bring up the contracts is that, first, those contracts are made subject to applicable laws; and, second, nowhere in those contracts will you find the words "unjust economic discrimination" or "inconsistency with the purposes of the Electricity Act."  That is to say that the contractual processes the IESO refers to have no impact at all on this process, this review process that the OEB is doing in consideration of the IESO's proposed market rule amendments.

Both the IESO and, frankly, the contractual counterparties were aware of the section 33 review right at the time of entering into those contracts.  And if the IESO had truly intended to preclude a party's right to bring a section 33 review of certain market rule amendments, it is not clear to me why they wouldn't have expressly indicated that intention in clear and unambiguous language in their applicable power purchase agreements.  They did not because, put simply, the contractual processes that they refer to have no bearing on the evidentiary relevance of these contracts and the impacts of the market rule amendments in this section 33 application.

Those are my submissions.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.  Commissioner Moran?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Commissioner Dodds.  You brought our attention to section 5 of the Electricity Act, just to be sure that I understand.

MR. BOYLE:  Would you like me to bring it up again?

MR. VELLONE:  Perhaps it would be helpful, Mr. Boyle, so everyone can look at the same thing.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  And these point specifically to subsection 4 and subsection 5 of the Act as working together to, I guess, deliver some context for the questions we have to decide here.  I am interested in what you have to say specifically about subsection 5(a), where it says:
"The IESO shall not conduct the operations of the IESO-administered markets in any manner that unjustly advantages or disadvantages any market participant or class of market participants.

I take it, at the heart of NQS' case, this is most of what you're concerned with.  Do I have that right?

MR. VELLONE:  That's correct.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay, so then I guess the question is -- I mean, just in theory, the operation of the market could result in advantages and disadvantages, but, as long as they're not unjust, that's not a problem; right?

MR. VELLONE:  I would say that's the key question facing this Panel of Commissioners in this proceeding, is whether or not the discrimination in question is unjust or just.  Yes.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  And, in this context, I guess we are talking about unjust economic discrimination amongst classes of market participants and specifically the class that you're representing; right?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  And, again, I am going to back to a question I asked you earlier about HQEM.  They're also a market participant, and I guess they will also have a view about whether there are advantages or disadvantages and whether there are unjust advantages or disadvantage; is that fair?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes, that's fair.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  So that's something we should take into account as part of determining whether they get --


MR. VELLONE:  I certainly would suggest you should not; that's correct.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  All right.  Then, we were talking -- and then I guess in subsection 4, as you indicated, this was a section relating to the amalgamations many, many years ago between IESO and OPA, and it directs the board of directors to take steps to ensure that there is an effective separation of functions relating to first, on one hand, its market operations and, on the other hand, its procurement and contract management activities.  So, again just to understand where you want to go with this review, I take it why you're pointing to that is that you want us to understand or you want to argue and convince us that these market rule amendments, based on the existing contractual arrangements that you're operating under, amount to unjust economic discrimination; is that fair?

MR. VELLONE:  I would say that is a portion of our argument but not the totality of it.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  What would the rest --


MR. VELLONE:  The market rule amendments are discriminatory in their own right, and that is just made worse by the contracts that operate, that the generators have.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  All right, so what you want to argue is that, on a standalone basis, without regard to any contractual relationships that you may have, your client may have, with the IESO, that the amendments themselves in their entirety give rise to unjust economic discrimination?

MR. VELLONE:  Correct, and then that is made significantly worse by the procurement contracts in question.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  And, just to help me understand, what would your argument be around how it's made worse, just to help us understand the question of what the scope of the proceeding should be?

MR. VELLONE:  I do not know how to answer that, Commissioner Moran, without getting into the intricacies of the assumptions included in a deemed dispatch model, except to attempt to refer you back to my original application, where in separate paragraphs there is an allegation that the market rule amendments caused the following harms, A, B, C, D.  And then, in a completely different paragraph, I draw your attention to:  The market rule amendments together with these contracts result in the following harms, and it's a different list.

And I have tried as best I can in my pleadings and will do the same in the evidentiary portion of this proceeding to be clear, concise, and articulate about when the contracts are triggered and when they are not.  That's the best I can probably do at the outset here, Commissioner Moran.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Vellone.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you, Commissioner Moran.   Commissioner Zlahtic?

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  No questions here.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.  Could we now have Mr. Duffy on behalf of IESO make the presentation.

MR. ZACHER:  Commissioner Dodds, it's Mr. Zacher, we are switching horses, so to speak here.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Okay.
Submissions by Mr. Zacher


MR. ZACHER:  I will address the scoping issue and let me just say by way of introduction, we take no issue with the issues list as it's been set by the Board, the two issues that track the criteria in the Electricity Act, so we are agreed with Mr. Vellone on that.  The issue that I will address is scope.  And it's the IESO's position, and this has been articulated in the letters that we have written to the Board, as well as the brief submission we filed at the end of last week, is that there is a significant gulf between the parties with regards to what they see as relevant and in scope and what they see as not in scope in this proceeding.  And for that reason, it's our view that it's important for the Board to clarify this up front, that is to ensure that the proceeding is conducted in accordance with the statutory criteria under 33(9) of the Electricity Act and that it can be conducted in, within the relatively -- or the very compressed 120-day timeline.  And that's important, because if those matters aren't established up front there is a real risk that this proceeding expands well beyond the appropriate boundaries, and that a lot of time, effort, and money is expended addressing things that are clearly not relevant.

And so, in our view it's important to establish that up front.  It's also important for purposes of making determinations on the other issues that are before the Board today, so the production request from the Applicants, the proposed evidence of the Applicants and the intervenors, and other procedural matters, issues of relevance and scope, importantly inform all of those things.  So that, in our view, is an important matter to address up front.

The second just preliminary point I want to make is that we are not asking the Board in this case to preemptively, or prematurely, make a determination on issues that may, over the course of the hearing, prove to be in or out of scope.  We appreciate that in every case, you know, you have to proceed with the hearing to some extent to determine that.  We are asking that the Board address matters that we say are clearly out of bounds given the statutory criteria and the timeline.

And I want to emphasize that point, because my friend in his submission, in the submission that was filed last night, you heard again from Mr. Vellone today, are taking the position that the IESO's position is absurd, that it constitutes, you know, bad faith, attempts to contract out of review by the Board, and that it robs the Board of any sort of meaningful jurisdiction. And so, we take significant issue with that, but it's important to raise that.

What I want to just address in the balance of my submissions is:  Number one, address, respond to the Applicants' position with regards to the scope of the Board's review.  And then, secondly, to specifically address what we say is out of scope and irrelevant in the application and how we would suggest that the Board clarify that.

So, first off, in terms of the scope of review, you will have our submission where we identified the relevant governing principles that apply to a section 33(9) review, I won't reiterate that.  But I want to engage with Mr. Vellone, because he has take an very different view.  This Board has determined that there are two criteria, or there are two grounds for a review of a market rule amendment, whether the amendment is inconsistent with the purposes of the Electricity Act or unjustly discriminatory.  Those are the only two grounds and this Board, in the 3 times ramp rate case, which was the first market rule amendment review, determined that section 33(9) was a jurisdiction limiting provision.

The Applicants have taken a diametrically opposed view.  They argue that the Board has broad plenary jurisdiction, that the Board's review is unqualified in any way, and must be taken in its broadest sense.  That's addressed in their letter from last evening, and that the Board's review authority is so broad that it includes the authority to reconsider and substitute its decision for that of the IESO.  That's at paragraphs 2 and 11 of the submission that they filed last evening.

And, with respect, that is plainly wrong.  The Applicants' position misstates the express wording of the Act, it misstates basic principles of contract interpretation, and it ignores what this Board has said.

First, the Board does not have authority to substitute its decision for that of the IESO.  The Board's authority under section 33(9) is limited to revoking the amendment and referring it back to the IESO, and notably that is a very different authority than the Board has under section 35 of the Electricity Act, which is another provision that gives the right to review market rule amendments that is not governed by a 120-day timeline, and section 35 sub 6 specifically gives the Board the right to not only revoke, but to direct the IESO to amend the market rules in a manner that is specified by the Board.  Very, very different.

The proposition that the Board has unlimited authority is simply inconsistent with the fact that there are two prescribed grounds for review, those are the only grounds and that the review must take place beginning to end within 120 days.  And the Board in the ramp rate case acknowledged that, you know, the legislature -- could be assumed that the legislature intended a relatively scoped review, by virtue of those two provisions and the 120-day period.  So, the IESO is not, contrary to my friend's suggestion, proposing to rob this Board of any meaningful jurisdiction, but simply to ensure that the review is carried out in accordance with the statutory criteria and that it can be conducted in an efficient way within the prescribed timeline.

I want to now turn to the specific question of why, of what we say is beyond the bounds of a review as set out in the Applicants' application.  And that starts with a brief review of the contracts at issue.  And these are summarized at paragraphs 12 to 15 of our submission that was filed at the end of last week.  And the simple facts are that all of the Applicants are parties to clean energy supply or combined heat and power contracts.  All of those contracts specifically anticipate future market rule amendment changes and, in fact, specifically contemplate the amendments that are at issue in this case, a day-ahead market, and the replacement of the Hourly Ontario Energy Price with locational marginal pricing.  And the contracts specify what amendments the Applicants are entitled to to mitigate the impact of market rule amendments, including these MRP amendments, in the event that they are implemented.

And just to pause there for a moment, because, again, my friends suggest that there is some sort of -- the IESO has some kind of monopoly position or that they have exercised bad faith in trying to contract out of review by the Board.  That is not the case, these are all large, sophisticated companies, they include public companies, and they all agreed that the time these contracts were entered into that in the event of market rule amendments, this is how the contracts would be amended in order to address any adverse impact.

So the contracts are a complete answer, or a complete answer to a large part of the Applicants' claim.  The Applicants have been negotiating with the IESO since the MRP rule amendment process was kicked off.  The process is ongoing.  And what this review constitutes is really nothing more than an attempt to advance contract claims through a market rule amendment process.

And the Applicants take issue with that characterization.  But, as Mr. Vellone indicated and as their submission from last night concedes, their application is largely focused on the impact to their contracts.

And if I could ask Ms. Mercer to just pull up the Applicants' letter or submission from last evening, paragraph 5?  You will see here, the Applicants say:

"The NQS Generation Group disagrees that the application only relates to out-of-market contracts.  The application is carefully and thoughtfully constructed to distinguish between the clear and unambiguous harms caused directly by the MRP amendments on the one hand, paragraph 9, and on the other hand, the harms that are made worse (not better) when considered in the context of the deemed dispatch agreements."

And that is borne out by the application itself, and so I am going to ask Ms. Mercer to pull up the application.  I apologize.

So, if we look at paragraphs -- starting at paragraph 1, and if Ms. Mercer can just scroll until paragraph 9, the Applicants set out the nature of the market.  The MRP amendments at paragraph 9, they set out -- just scroll back up.

At paragraph 9, they address in paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) the specific impacts of those amendments on them.

And then, at paragraph 10, the Applicants address, they say:

"The combination of the harms described in the previous paragraphs resulting from the discriminatory MRP amendments will result in lower total revenues from the IESO-administered markets than under the current rules for NQS generators.  Other classes of market participants are not experiencing harm from the MRP amendments to the same degree."

And that is what Mr. Vellone describes as the standalone claim that the MRP amendments in and of themselves are discriminatory.

The IESO of course disagrees with that, but that is a claim that the Applicants can make; it is within the scope of section 33(9).

However, when you move past that, that's where there are issues.  And let me ask Ms. Mercer to flip to paragraph 17.

And you will see here, Mr. Chair, Panel members, that the Applicants specifically address the contract amendment process that has been undertaken between the Applicants and the IESO since 2019.

And then over on to paragraph 31, you will see what is the nub of the claim, which is that:

"The effect of implementing the MRP amendments without first addressing the unjust treatment of the NQS Generation Group is unjustly discriminatory against a market participant or class of participants, particularly..."

And then, in subsection (b):

"Implementation of MRP amendments prior to resolving contractual amendments to the deemed dispatch agreements results in an unequal bargaining position in favour of the IESO."

And that is, in our submission, the gist of what is clearly irrelevant and out of scope.  The argument is that MRP -- that the IESO cannot make market rule amendments, cannot make market design changes until it first negotiates contract amendments with the Applicants.  And, of course, this would apply to any group of contract-holders in respect of any market rule amendments.

And that is not how the contracts work.  The contracts provide that, in the event of market rule amendments, then the applicants are entitled to amendments to their contract, not the other way around.

And so the implication with respect, for this, for the proposed review, is that the Applicants are asking the Board to not simply assess whether the proposed MRP market rule amendments are unjustly discriminatory to market participants in their capacity as market participants, but is asking the Board to assess whether the specific MRP amendments are discriminatory in light of the ongoing contract negotiations between the parties, and specifically in light of the term sheet amendments that have been proposed by the IESO.

And it is asking this Board to assess the sufficiency of those proposed amendments, which implicates the Board directly into what is a contract, a separate contract amendment process, between commercial parties.  And again, what it does is is to make market rule amendments, market design changes, contingent on the IESO first entering into contract negotiations with contract-holders to satisfy their concerns before it can move forward with market rule design changes, market rule amendments.

And that, with respect, is the tail wagging the dog.  It is making the market beholden to negotiations with private commercial parties instead of, as the contracts clearly indicate in this case, entitling contract-holders to consequential contract amendments in the event of market rule amendments in order to mitigate the impact, potential adverse impact, of those amendments.  And so our position, Mr. Chair, Panel Members, is that it's important for the Board to clarify up front what issues are relevant and in scope and what issues are not, and, if the applicants want to proceed with their claim as pleaded in paragraphs 1 to 10, where they make the point, as Mr. Vellone conceded, that the MRP amendments are in and of themselves unjustly discriminatory or inconsistent with the purposes of the Act, that is perfectly within the scope of a section 33(9) review.

But the Board, in our submission, should clarify that it will not review and evaluate the MRP amendments for the purpose of determining whether they are inconsistent with the purposes of the Act or unjustly discriminatory by reference to an out-of-market, ongoing contract-amendment process and specifically whether term-sheet amendments that have been proposed by the IESO and further amendments that may be proposed by the IESO contribute to whether the rules, themselves, are unjustly discriminatory or inconsistent with the purposes of the Act.

That is not within the bounds of the Board's review.  It is far outside of the bounds, and it requires the Board to engage in a review of contracts and frankly ongoing contract amendment processes that can't possibly be undertaken within this sort of a review process and that are outside of the criteria.

So those are our submissions, subject to any questions that you may have.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you, very much.  Commissioner Moran?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Commissioner Dodds.  I just want to make sure I understand your submissions on the scope of this proceeding.  If I understand it correctly, I think what you are telling us is that what we have to determine is whether the amendments that are the subject of the application, whether they on a standalone basis amount to unjust economic discrimination.  Is that fair?

MR. ZACHER:  Yes, and that's as, Commissioner Moran, as Mr. Vellone indicated, as the submissions from last night indicate, that is a part of their application, and that certainly falls within scope.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay, so, given that -- I mean I don't think that's particularly controversial.  I mean, clearly, that's what the Act says, as well.  If we were to find ultimately -- and again just purely hypothetical because we haven't heard the evidence or anything.  But, hypothetically, if we were to find at the end of this proceeding that the market rule amendments do not give rise to unjust discrimination, what would that mean for the contracts?

What I am really asking is:  Do you still have to consider contractual amendments on a going-forward basis after that ruling?

I guess I am trying to get at:  You indicated that one of the reasons that we don't need to look at the contracts is that the contracts have always anticipated market renewal and so on.  So I guess the hypothetical is:  If we are looking at a certain -- if we determine that the market rule amendments do not constitute unjust discrimination, does that mean that there is no need to amend the contracts or would you still be looking at an amendment process in order to reconcile those contracts with [audio dropout] --


MR. ZACHER:  Well, the two things are separate and apart.  So the contract holders who agreed to this, right, all agreed to this, that, to the extent there are MRP amendments that potentially adversely impact their revenues or other contractual interests, they are entitled, they are specifically entitled, to amendments and, failing agreement with the IESO on what those amendments are, to arbitration.

So there is a complete remedy to the Applicants' complaints, which is to continue on and negotiate amendments that the contracts require and, if they can't come to an agreement, to have that issue arbitrated.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Mm-hmm, okay, so I understand the description of that process.  I guess what I am asking is:  In the event that the OEB were to determine that there was no unjust discrimination resulting from these market rule amendments, are those contractual processes still available to the generators to pursue --


MR. ZACHER:  Yes.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  -- okay.

MR. ZACHER:  Yes.  I mean, just to be clear, Commissioner Moran, the provisions in the contracts' sections 1.7 and 1.8, they specifically address -- the contracting parties, they put their minds to this when they made the contracts because at the time it was well known that the IESO market was going to evolve in the day-ahead market and locational marginal pricing was on the horizon.  And so they specifically addressed that and said:  To the extent these are to be implemented, these are the amendments that the parties are entitled to.

There are governing principles -- you will see them referenced in our submission -- that established how the amendments would be made.  Now, to the extent that the parties were to reach an impasse in negotiating the specifics of those amendments, they had recourse to arbitration.  But whether -- the findings of this, of the Board, don't change the fact that the parties are entitled to these amendments or alternatively arbitration as a result, as a result of it.  And findings of unjust discrimination or inconsistency with the purposes of the Act either way don't impact that.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Well, in fact, I guess, if we do find that the market rules result in unjust discrimination, it's not possible for that to impact contractual negotiations because we are going to send it back to the IESO to -- we are going to say they are revoked and send them back, so that can't be fixed through contract either; right?

That's got to be fixed by the IESO, based on our decision saying they are all revoked on the basis that they amount to unjust discrimination.  [audio dropout] amendments first [audio dropout] wouldn't it?  If they sent it back on the grounds [audio dropout]


MR. ZACHER:  Yes.  I mean, Commissioner Moran, I may have misheard, but I mean, if the amendments were to be revoked, then there wouldn't be the trigger for amendments under the contract.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Right.

MR. ZACHER:  Right?  But I am just saying, if the amendments are made, then the parties have the rights that they have under the contract to have the contracts amended.  I mean really the point -- sorry if it may have -- no one put it succinctly, but the way that it works is that the parties agreed in advance, look, if there are these MRP amendments, that what follows from those market rule amendments will be necessary changes to the contracts, and, if they can't be agreed, then the parties arbitrate that.

And what the Applicants' position does is to invert that process and to say:  Contract amendments don't follow from market design or market rule changes but rather before the IESO and all other market participants who favour market design changes, before they can be implemented, you have to first undertake negotiations with commercial counterparties.  And that can't, as a matter of the statutory or regulatory structure and the way the contracts are set up, that can't be the case.  It can't be that the entire IESO market and MRP is somehow beholden to, as a prerequisite to market design changes, is beholden to having to satisfy contract demands of commercial parties.

And, again, the point being, right, there is no -- other than my friend's statement that there is some harm that results from the MRP amendments in and of themselves, which is divorced from the contracts, which we say if you want to litigate that, litigate it.  There can't be any other potential harm to the Applicants from the combined effect of the MRP amendments and the contracts because the contracts fully address that, they say if there are market rule amendments, including these MRP amendments, that impact you, you are entitled under your contracts to have the contracts amended to mitigate that, and that was all agreed to in advance by the IESO and some of the largest gas generators in the country.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  So, thank you for that.  So, just so that I have it as clearly as possible, if I understand everything that you've just said to me, there is essentially two scenarios at play here.  Scenario Number 1 is:  Will we determine that the market rule amendments, on their face, give rise to unjust discriminatory impacts, in that context we revoke them and we send it back to the IESO, so that's got nothing to do with the contracts because you guys have to continue working on the rules; right?

MR. ZACHER:  Yes.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  So, that's scenario Number 1.  Scenario Number 2 is:  We find that there is no unjust discrimination and therefore the rules stand and then under that context the contracting parties can take it, can trigger the clauses in their contracts to say, well, these are the changes we now need in order to live with the new rules; right?

MR. ZACHER:  Yes.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  And then that's all subject to arbitration.  So, if I understand it, that's the basis on which you would say that we don't need to get into the contractual arrangements because that's got nothing to do with what we have to decide, we just have to decide the question of unjust discrimination and compliance with the purpose of the Act?

MR. ZACHER:  Right.  And the second, just to augment that, is that, yes, that's legally the case, but it's also the case that there is no adverse impact to excluding the contract piece from the Board's review, because the contracts are a complete answer in and of themselves; right?  They entitle the suppliers, the contracts parties to this amendments or, failing that, arbitration.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you.  Those are all my questions, Mr. Dodds.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you very much, Commissioner Moran.  Commissioner Zlahtic?

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Good afternoon, Mr. Zacher.  You made reference to section 1.7 and 1.8, which I believe is of the contracts.  Are those provisions identical in all the contracts of the NQS generators?  Because it's a mix of CES contracts, probably of different vintages, and then CHP contracts.  I mean, do they all have the same identical provisions for arbitration in the end?  And, you know, are there provisions that position certain generators in a better position than others by virtue of section 1.7 and 1.8?

MR. ZACHER:  I don't -- first of all, the Applicants are treating these as -- they are not differentiating between the various contracts for purposes of their application.  But I do believe, Commissioner Zlahtic, that they all have arbitration clauses, they all have sections 1.7 and 1.8.  There may be wording that differs from contract to contract, but I don't believe in any material, in any material way.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  I do have a hypothetical for you and it sort of picks up on Commissioner Moran's scenarios.  So, I think Commissioner Moran characterized Scenario 2 is where -- and if I get this wrong, Pat, apologies.  Scenario 2 is where we find that there is discrimination and we send the rules back to the IESO.  You know, statutorily we have until, I believe, March the 7th to issue a decision on that.  So, that goes back to the IESO.  You'd have to make amendments.  And then there'd still be the contractual negotiations that would be outstanding.  How could this impact the market changes that are supposed to be happening in May when MRP is supposed to be implemented?  Apologies if I am not phrasing my questions very well.  So, if the OEB were to send the rules back to the IESO to revise, how will this affect the market MRP happening in May as planned  right now?

MR. ZACHER:  So, Commissioner Zlahtic, I suspect if the rules were revoked and sent back to the IESO there would be little chance that the MRP go live date for May could be met.  Certainly if the direction was as the Applicants ask, that a precondition to passing the rules anew is that the IESO first has to negotiate contract amendments that meet the demands of the Applicant group, there's no conceivable way that presumably gets done before the market renewal go live date in May.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  That is sort of the answer I anticipated.  Let me do the flip side on you.  The OEB finds that there is no discrimination and the market rules stand as amended and the contractual negotiations to implement aren't complete and perhaps they go to arbitration.  Would that too hold up the start date in May?

MR. ZACHER:  I don't believe so.  And just to be -- I mean, just to be clear, this is process is happening, so is ongoing contract amendment negotiations, that's what the contract requires; right?  The contract requires that in the event that these amendments are to be made, that the parties are required to negotiate the necessary amendments as specified in the contracts themselves.  And at some point if they don't have success in negotiating then they can trigger arbitration.  But that process is happening now and it will continue to happen.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  One thing I am a little bit confused about is, you know, was a bit -- you didn't characterize it this way but I will, is a bit of the cart before the horse is that, you know, you were suggesting that NQS' position is that before the market rules are finalized there has to be agreement on the contractual changes.  But, I mean, what's been happening, I understand, is with all these term sheets that have been floating around for a while, and I don't know how many there are, sorry, I haven't gotten through all the submissions, that this process has been working concomitantly and the IESO and NQS generators have been consulting on the market rule changes, and as well as necessary contractual changes.  So, you know, sitting here, it looks like this process is moving in parallel and it's not a sequential process where you get the market rule changes finalized and then you enter into the negotiations for the contractual amendments.

MR. ZACHER:  I just want to make sure I understood the question.  I mean, the Applicants commenced the market rule review.  The IESO has simply been doing what it is contractually required to do, which is to engage in contract amendment negotiations with the Applicants to address the impacts of these MRP amendments.

So that, the timing of the contract amendment negotiations, is dictated by what the contracts require; the IESO is doing that.  And irrespective of what happens in this proceeding, unless the Board revokes the rules altogether, the Applicants will be entitled to have their contracts amended the very way that the contracts require.  Or, if they are not satisfied, they can have recourse to arbitration and have an arbitrator determining.

But that process and the timing of that process is a function of what the contracts require.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Okay, fair enough.  Okay, thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you, very much, Mr. Zacher.

I would ask the intervenors to make their presentations in the order of their appearances, and try to keep it down to 10 minutes each, if at all possible.  And, that being said, Mr. Rubenstein for SEC.


MR. GLUCK:  Commissioner Dodds.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Oh, okay.

MR. GLUCK:  I just wanted to mention that Mr. Rubenstein had to leave the conference already.  And I apologize, but I will not be able to attend later this afternoon.  So my intent right now, if it is all right with you, is to just provide our comments on the remaining issues that were going be discussed today.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  That would be fine.
Submissions by Mr. Gluck


MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.  So, on behalf of the Consumers Council of Canada and the School Energy Coalition, we have no comments on the scope of the proceeding, nor the NQS Generation Group's disclosure request.  Both parties, CCC and SEC, will not be filing evidence in this proceeding, and we are both happy to work within whatever procedural schedule that is ultimately determined by the Panel.  And those are our comments.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  And that is your submission?

MR. GLUCK:  That is our submission, for both CCC and SEC.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you, very much, Mr. Gluck.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  AAPrO, your presentation?
Submissions by Mr. Anderson


MR. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Commissioner Dodds.  I can save you a few more minutes, I think, looking on the overall schedule, because having listened to my friends at NQS Generation Group as well as my friends at the IESO, APPrO is supportive of the comments made on scope of the NQS Generation Group.

So Mr. Vellone's comments, APPrO feels are appropriate in this case.  And that is our position in respect of the scope issue.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you, very much, Mr. Anderson.  Ms. Goyal, on behalf of FirstLight?

MS. GOYAL:  Thank you.  Can everyone hear me?

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  I can.  Can the court reporter hear?

COURT REPORTER:  I can, thank you.  Yes, my issues have resolved themselves.  Thanks.

MS. GOYAL:  Thank you for letting me know.  And I expect to be less than five minutes, as well.

Previously, IESO claimed that it is unaware -- I should preface by saying that FirstLight agrees with the issues list as identified in Procedural Order No. 1, and these submissions are only in respect of scope.  And FirstLight does not have any submissions on the balance of issues for the agenda for today's pre-hearing conference.

Earlier this morning, the IESO claimed that it is unaware of what FirstLight's concerns are and therefore cannot meaningfully respond in time.

This is false.  Like the NQS generators, FirstLight has been in regular communications with the IESO for years now, with meetings every few months, with the latest meeting occurring as late as November 15 regarding its concerns with respect to both its transmission- and distribution-connected facilities.

FirstLight has a direct and substantial interest in whether these market rule amendments are passed in their current form.  If and once passed, FirstLight will have no other recourse to address the unjust disadvantages the amendments may have on their transmission-connected facilities following market renewal go live.

I also want to be clear on the information FirstLight is seeking to obtain from the IESO in this proceeding with respect to its distribution facilities.  The only evidence that FirstLight is seeking to ensure is on the record for the benefit of the Board is the IESO's forecast projections with respect to what pricing will look like under the retail settlement code, once HOEP is replaced with the replacement price as proposed by the IESO under the market rules -- the market rule amendments, rather.

If and only if the IESO is unable or refuses to provide this information disclosure, then FirstLight may seek to file evidence on this very narrow point.  This is expressly set out in FirstLight's intervention request form filed on November 20, and we are not looking to introduce the FIT contracts as part of this proceeding.

FirstLight is therefore not seeking to expand the scope of this proceeding.  It is only looking to ensure that the evidentiary record is complete to help the Board determine if the market rule amendments and, even more narrowly, the market rule amendments that introduce a replacement price for HOEP under the retail settlement code cause unjust economic harm.

Finally, I would like to re-emphasize that FirstLight's intervention will give the perspective of distribution-connected participants in this proceeding, which is not otherwise represented.

Thank you.  Those are my submissions, subject to any questions from the Panel.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.  My apologies to the commissioners; we skipped over asking questions on the first two.  But, on this presentation, Commissioner Moran, do you have questions?  You are on the mute, Commissioner Moran.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Dodds.

I didn't have any questions for Mr. Gluck, but I just want to make sure I understand, Ms. Goyal, your submissions.

So I think you have confirmed that the primary interest for you is whether the market rule amendments themselves amount to unjust discrimination.

MS. GOYAL:  Correct.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  And I want to make sure that I completely understood this that, given that we don't have to have regard to the specific contracts that your client may have, it is really more about the rules themselves?

MS. GOYAL:  Correct.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  All right, thank you, for that.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Commissioner Zlahtic?

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  No questions, thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.

MS. GOYAL:  Thank you.  So, unless the commissioners direct us otherwise, FirstLight does not intend to participate in the balance of today's pre-hearing conference as, again, we have no submissions on the evidentiary matters or the procedural schedule.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Okay.  Thank you, very much.

MS. GOYAL:  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  HQ Energy?

MR. FLEURY:  Thank you, Commissioner Dodds.

We have no comments regarding the balance of the issues on today's agenda, and we will leave the conference after this.  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Okay, thank you.  Thank you.

We are on to Staff.  Do you have submissions?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We do.  I will be about 15 minutes, so just checking with the Panel whether you want me to continue or you wanted to break.  I am fine either way.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  No, that's fine.  Please continue.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.

So Staff's submissions on the scope of the proceeding and the issues is sort of three -- there are three parts to it.  The first part is about what is unjust discrimination and what is needed to be considered within the scope of the proceeding in order for the Panel to make a finding on that issue.

In its letter of November 14, the Applicants stated and I quote:
"Unjust economic discrimination should not be determined in the hypothetical vacuum, but rather should be grounded in real economic consequences with reference to the applicable contracts."

OEB Staff agrees that unjust discrimination cannot be determined in a vacuum, but must be determined in the context of the IESO market as a whole.

In the last case, considering an application to review a market rule amendment, the TCA case, this is in the IESO compendium.  Tobias, if you can pull that up, and go to page 9 of that decision?  You have that.

And so that is where the OEB decision in that case found that the first essential element in making a finding was that there must be economic discrimination.  Discrimination can arise from differences in treatment, and, in the context of the electricity market, this can mean differences in treatment for different classes of market participants when considered in the context of the IESO-administered market as a whole.

Further on in the TCA decision -- this is also at page 9 -- now, this is not in the findings; it's in the background part of the decision, but the OEB noted:
"All parties, including the IESO, agreed that it was appropriate to consider the amendments in the broader market context and not in a vacuum."

And, again, you know, this comes up, this approach comes up again in the decision on the motion to stay in the TCA case.  Again, it's on -- it's in Staff compendium, and -- got that?  We do.  Okay.  Sorry, I am flipping between screens.  And in that case -- and I am just focusing on the excerpt -- the OEB stated:
"The fact that there are different payment schemes applicable to participants in the TCA raises a legitimate question as to whether the amendments will result in unjust discrimination."

So, to sum up, the OEB Staff's submission on the scope is that it can't be done in a vacuum, the review can't be done in a vacuum, and the OEB review does need to take into account the context of the IESO-administered markets as a whole.  This means that the OEB review cannot rule out considerations of contractual and out-of-market payments to generators.  These are a function of market design to facilitate participation in the market and not a function of the contracts, themselves.

Contract payments or a lack thereof may or may not make the impact of the MRP amendments unjustly discriminatory, so, in Staff's view, they can be relevant and in scope.  I will discuss that a bit more when we are all making submissions on the next agenda item, regarding evidentiary matters.

I will now talk about the scope of the proceeding from a slightly different angle, and that is what the OEB's jurisdiction is in a section 33 review because, obviously, something cannot be in scope if it's outside the decision-maker's jurisdiction.

IESO's position is that the OEB does not have jurisdiction to review the generators' contracts.  As discussed, the fact that there are certain payment schemes for non-NQS generators is part of the broader market context in which the OEB has to make its section 33 review and determination.  Considering the impact of the MRP amendments on the NQS generators in light of their contracts does not mean that the OEB is conducting a review of those contracts themselves.

This was also addressed in the TCA case, which -- page 10, Tobias, if you can put that up.  It's also in IESO compendium.  The Board stated:
"With respect to the IESO's argument that the OEB does not have jurisdiction to review the amendments, as the OEB noted in its decision on the motion to stay, the fact that the lack of energy payments for DR Resources may be a circumstance that results in the amendments being discriminatory does not mean that, in reviewing the amendments, the OEB is conducting a review of market rules relating to energy payments.  The OEB maintains that view in this decision."

Now just by way of background, the TCA case, the issue was out-of-market payments that generators received and Demand Response Resources did not receive.  DS argued in that, as well, that the OEB can't review, can't even take those into consideration because they are not the rule, the rules of out-of-market, they are not the rule that is the subject of the application.  And the TCA and the OEB disagreed with the IESO's position.

Now to move to a third aspect of the scope of proceeding, and that is whether and to what extent the OEB can review the IESO's rule-making process.  IESO's submission relies on the Ramp Rate case in support of its view that the OEB should not review any aspect of the MRP amendment rule-making process.

IESO relies on the Ramp Rate case in support of its position that section 33 of the Act is jurisdiction limiting.  OEB Staff does not agree with the broad interpretation that the IESO is giving the Ramp Rate case or that section 33 is jurisdiction limiting to the extent that the IESO suggests.  It's important to take a minute to review what the OEB actually said in the Ramp Rate case and the context.

We can put that on the screen.  Again, this is in the -- I think it is in IESO's compendium or Board Staff's.  In any case, the application in the Ramp Rate case was based in part on the alleged lack of procedural fairness in the IESO rule-making process, and the OEB stated -- this is at pages 9 to 10 of that case:
"This Panel is of the view that the legitimate expectations re procedural fairness in IESO rule-making process is not a matter for our consideration.  IESO may or may not have followed the rules of natural justice.  And they may or may not have been required to do so, based upon the different authorities that have been cited by the different parties.  But that, we believe, is a matter to be determined by the Divisional Court, not the Ontario energy Board."

OEB Staff submits that this decision, which was on a relatively narrow question about procedural fairness, should not be broadly interpreted and applied to any review of the IESO's process of making market rule amendments.  In the present case, the applicant requested information from the IESO related to -- and this is very generally a 30,000-foot view -- related to the development of the MRP amendments, related to contractual provisions and the interaction between those and out-of-market payments and the interaction between those out-of-market payments and MRP amendments.

In Staff's view, these kinds of issues are relevant context and should not be dismissed as out of scope because, as the IESO argues, they "pertain to the IESO's analysis and decision-making as part of the process of making the MRP amendments," which the IESO claims is outside of the OEB's mandate in a section 33 review.  IESO's position seems to be that the OEB cannot review any information other than what IESO agreed to file surrounding the development of the MRP amendments and how they intersect with out-of-market payments.

Such an approach, in Staff's view, is an extreme restriction on the OEB's review under section 33 and is not supported by any of the previous OEB decisions on market rule amendments or any case law that has been submitted by any of the parties in this proceeding or in the previous cases.

That's the end of the Staff's submission on the scope of the proceeding.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you very much, Staff.  We will take this time now to take a lunch break.  We will be back here at 2 o'clock, and we will receive the reply submission from NQS.  Thank you, all.

MR. ANDERSON:  Commissioner Dodds, if I may?

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Yes.

MR. ANDERSON:  My apologies.  I just want to streamline the process a little more, if I possibly can.  APPrO wants to respond to the other things.  We have no comments on the disclosure request.  We have no comments on the procedural schedule, and I know in our written intervention we had said that we do not anticipate filing evidence.  I will strengthen that to:  We will not be filing evidence.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Okay, thank you very much.

MR. ANDERSON:  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:01 p.m.
--- On resuming at  2:03 p.m.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Welcome back, everyone.  Thank very much.  We are going to move on to line item 16, the agenda item number 3, the issues list and scope of proceeding.  And this is the reply submission from NQS.
Reply Submissions by Mr. Vellone


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much, Commissioner Dodds.  I am going to focus the bulk of my reply on what we just heard from the counsel to the IESO prior to the break.  And if I were to paraphrase their position, maybe this is a bit cheeky, but it's how it comes across to me.  It is pay no attention to the man behind the curtain.  Famous words from the Wizard of Oz, but, in effect, the IESO's submissions appear to be that the procurement contracts themselves are a complete answer to the MRP amendments, and that there is no need for the OEB or the parties to this proceeding to review those or consider those contracts in the context of this review application.

We respectfully disagree.  My friend made repeated reference throughout his oral submissions to the IESO's reopener provisions found in sections 1.7 and 1.8 of the applicable procurement contracts.  Allow me, if you will, to share my screen, it is going to be dangerous, but I will try, in an effort to try the illustrate to the Panel the subtle sleight of hand that is happening here.  And I will apologize in advance, I did not really plan for this when I was getting ready.  So, hopefully this all works.

Are you able to see, basically, the IESO's website, market renewal program, energy stream design, and then it says energy stream high-level designs?

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Yes, they are on the screen.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  Allow me to walk you through this briefly.  When it was originally conceived the market renewal program contemplated three different work streams.  The first is the single schedule market, which the IESO determined would involve the introduction of something called locational marginal pricing.  And I think if you were to ask my friend at the IESO they would say these changes are fully addressed in section 1.8 of the applicable CES contracts.

Okay.  Allow me to scroll down to the second work stream.  That is the introduction of the day-ahead market, which was to replace our current day-ahead commitment process.  And I think if you were to ask my friend at the IESO, they would argue that this is fully addressed in section 1.7 of the CES contracts.

Let me keep going.  There was a third work stream when market renewal was originally contemplated, and it is the enhanced real-time unit commitment process.  It does not find a home in any of the sections the IESO has referenced to date under the applicable contracts.  And there were a number of material changes to the IESO administered markets, proposed and ultimately made -- proposed to be made as part of this third work stream.  The first is the transition from what I am going to call single-part offers, to three-part offers.  The second was the introduction of a significantly more complex dispatch algorithm.  The third was the elimination of the real-time generator cost guarantee program, among other key changes under this work stream.  Those changes, the enhanced real-time unit commitment changes, represent a fundamental change to how the IESO's administered markets themselves would operate and would normally, under any other circumstance, constitute a separate set of market rule amendments that would, itself, trigger contractual reopener discussions.

What has happened since these high-level designs were introduced?  First, the IESO decided to lump all of these changes together into a singular, comprehensive package, market rule amendments, and not to otherwise break them out into discrete market rule amendments.  This decision has had severe adverse consequences to the NQS Generation Group, which this Panel is now being asked to consider today.

The second thing that happened since these high level designed were introduced, and this, in my submission, is key to the sleight of hand that we are seeing here, is that everything that I explained was originally part of the enhanced real-time unit commitment work stream of the market renewal program, including the move to three-part offers, the introduction of a significantly more complex and sophisticated dispatch algorithm and the elimination of the real-time generator cost guarantee program, among other changes, that were originally planned to happen in the real-time market have now also been rolled into the suite of changes that constitute the introduction into the day-ahead market.

These set of IESO decisions have had a direct and negative implication on the contractual reopener provisions that they repeatedly cite.  As you have seen, both in the term sheet cited in our application and has been referenced by my friends at the IESO several times today, the IESO's view is that sections 1.7 and 1.8 of the contracts provide a complete response to the NQS Generator Group's complaint about these MRP amendments.

The problem, of course, is that these two sections of the contract only deal with two of the three major buckets of changes that are being implemented through the MRP amendments.  Specifically, the introduction of a single schedule market, and the introduction of a day-ahead forward energy market.  What were originally work streams 1 and 2 at the high level design level.

The IESO has continued to date to take the position that because substantive changes to the IESO administered markets, that were originally contemplated as part of the enhanced real-time unit commitment work stream, are now also being implemented day-ahead that section 1.7 of the relevant contracts, represent that the sole and exclusive remedy of the generators to those changes.  As a consequence, the IESO has continuously failed to address any concerns raised by the NQS Generation Group related to the introduction of three-part offers, the introduction of a significantly more complex dispatch algorithm, or the elimination of real-time generator cost guarantee program, among others.

Put simply, when the IESO, as market administrator and the IESO as counterparty to these procurement contracts, acts in such a manner as to package the market rules in a manner that unjustly discriminates against a market participant or, in my case, a group of market participants, it should be no surprise to anyone that my clients' only meaningful recourse here is to bring a section 33 review application before the Ontario Energy Board.

Put simply, the contracts in question do not provide a full or complete recourse to the IESO's unjustly discriminatory behaviour, that that -- that this position that we are bringing to you merits a full and complete consideration on the evidence, that that evidence should be thoroughly tested by the parties in this proceeding, by the Panel considering this issue, and that it would be premature for the OEB to make a determination on jurisdiction as requested by the IESO when it is simply not the case that the contracts in question provide a complete answer.

The second issue I would like to address in reply, so I will stop sharing here, is a suggestion by my friend this morning that the OEB somehow does not have the ability in this review application to substitute the OEB's judgment for that of the IESO.  I just don't agree.

My friend made reference back to the narrowly worded remedies available under section 33(9) of the Electricity Act for the IESO to -- for the OEB to revoke and refer back to the IESO certain market rule amendments.

We agree the available remedies are narrow.  However, in our view, the IESO has a legal obligation under section 5(5) of the Electricity Act to consider issues of economic discrimination and the purposes of the Electricity Act.

In that context, to suggest that this OEB commission Panel does not, after hearing evidence and arguments in this proceeding, have the ability to arrive at a different conclusion than the IESO did as it relates to unjust economic discrimination or consistency with the purposes of the Electricity Act is, in a word, absurd.  This is exactly what a section 33 review application is intended to allow for.

The third point I want to raise on reply relates to the IESO's reference to I believe what was paragraph 31 of our original application, and the idea that somehow the IESO, that the fact that the IESO must turn its mind to whether or not there is unjust economic discrimination or consistency with the purposes of the Electricity Act is before the market rule amendments are approved is somehow inconsistent with the language in the contracts.

We do not agree.  The IESO's position is effectively that this puts the cart ahead of the horse, in their words, and that the contracts contemplate post-market rule amendment negotiations, not negotiations that precede the amendment.

In responding to that, I want to be very careful in my use of words, as I was very careful in paragraph 31 of the application.  My argument is that the IESO has a continuous and positive legal obligation under section 5(5) of the Electricity Act.  That legal obligation was live before they implemented the MRP amendments and continues to exist afterwards.  And that obligation in effect imposes on the IESO an obligation to ensure that when engaging its market functions that it is not being unjustly discriminatory to a market participant or class of market participants, and that it is not acting in a manner inconsistent with the purposes of the Electricity Act.

This is why I argued the IESO had a positive obligation before approving the market rule amendments to ensure that those amendments were not unjustly discriminatory and not inconsistent with the purposes of the Electricity Act.

What I am not saying, which I think is what counsel to the IESO is somehow implying, is that a particular contractual reopener provision would or should be engaged prior to the approval of the market rule amendments.  This is simply not the case.

Rather, my view as stated is that the IESO has a positive obligation under section 5, that they failed to discharge that obligation when the IESO board approved the MRP amendments, with full knowledge of the NQS Generator Group's residual concerns.  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.

MR. ZACHER:  Commissioner Dodds, I apologize --


PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Yes?

MR. ZACHER:  -- for speaking.  But I want to address, my friend referenced a sleight of hand by counsel for the IESO with regards to how it characterized sections 1.7 and 1.8 in the contract.  And I would like to clarify that, because it is not correct.

We stated in our submissions, and this can be found at paragraph 12 of our submissions, that the contracts, including sections 1.7 and 1.8, addressed any complaints by the Applicants that they were impacted by the MRP amendments.

My friend has suggested that we limited that solely to sections 1.7 and 1.8 in the contracts, and that the IESO somehow purposely avoided addressing the enhanced real-time unit commitment changes that were made by MRP, and has only addressed the changes with regards to the day-ahead market and the single-schedule market or LMP.

My friend is correct that sections 1.7 and 1.8 address the introduction of a day-ahead market and the introduction of a single-schedule market with LMP.

But he is incorrect when he says that the contract did not address for any other market rule amendments that might result, including enhanced real-time unit commitment.

The contract absolutely does.  This can be found in section 1.6, which says:

"To the extent there is an amendment to the IESO market rules such that the supplier's economics as reflect the supplier's economics contemplated hereunder..."

That will also trigger the requirement to amend the contracts, that also entitles suppliers, including the Applicants, to arbitration.

And so the point is that while it is the IESO's position that sections 1.7 and 1.8 address the particular MRP amendments that are in issue, to the extent they do not, there is a catch-all in section 1.6 that says any other market rule amendment change that impacts the supplier's economics also gives rise to the right to negotiate amendments and also gives rise to the right to arbitration.  And so I wanted to clarify that because my friend's submission on that point is wrong and it was not the intention to not address that.  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Well, to be fair, NQS, do you want a few minutes for a sur-reply?  Because this is not part of the procedures.
Sur-Reply by Mr. Vellone


MR. VELLONE:  I can keep it brief, Commissioner Dodds.  Let's suffice it to say that the statement put forward by my friend Mr. Zacher is an absolute surprise to me.  The parties have been in negotiations for what are in excess of five years now, and you will see from the term sheet that we cite in our application that the IESO's position in that term sheet is that sections 1.7 and 1.8 together contemplate the entirety of the remedies of the parties under the contracts.  And so, to the extent they are changing their term sheet, I am sure they are welcome to do so, and we would probably expect the IESO to file that in this proceeding.  But, for more than five years now, they have not taken that position, and it is an absolute surprise to me that this is their position now.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Well, at this stage, this would probably be part of the submissions and the responses to submissions.  Commissioner Moran, do you have any comments and questions on the reply submission?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Commissioner Dodds, I do.  Before I ask my questions, though, I do want the make a comment.  I have heard the IESO allege that the NQS is participating in this section 33 process in order to gain leverage in contractual discussions.  I have heard NQS allege that the IESO is attempting to contract out of a section 33 review.  And I want to say I really don't find any of those allegations on people's motive helpful, at all.

The question we have to deal with today is:  What's the legal scope of our jurisdiction with respect to section 33 and the review of market rule amendments?  So I just wanted to say that.

So, secondly, Mr. Vellone, I am not sure that I heard IESO saying that the contracts are a complete answer to the market rule amendments and the impact they have.  We are looking at two possible outcomes to this proceeding.  Outcome number one, as I understand it -- and I think IESO agreed that that's the case, and I am interested in knowing if you do, but outcome number one is that we determine -- and you have said this is part of what you're here to try to convince us on -- we determine that the market rule amendments on their face amount to unjust economic impact on your clients; right?

And I take it that you'd also agree that, if that's the conclusion we reach, then our decision will be to revoke the rules and send them back to the IESO; right?

And, as I think I heard the IESO folks say, in that context, whatever is happening on the contractual side I guess is neither here nor there because -- and this is my question to you -- there is nothing in the contracts that allow you and the IESO and an arbitrator potentially to determine whether there is unjust discrimination or not; that's our job.  Right?

Okay, so I see you nodding your head.

MR. VELLONE:  Sorry.  For the benefit of the reporter, yes.  Yes, Commissioner Moran, that was the core of my submissions.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  The other outcome is that we determine that there is no unjust discrimination.  And, again, what I heard the IESO say in response to my questions in that context:  Then, the market rules are upheld, the unjust discrimination disappears as an issue, but there still remains the possibility that there have to be some amendments because the market rules have brought about changes in some aspect of how the market operates.  Right?

Again, that has got nothing to do with unjust discrimination; right?

MR. VELLONE:  I would agree with that the --


COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Right.

MR. VELLONE:  -- provisions in the contract don't mention unjust discrimination.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Right, and we would also agree that, to the extent that the contract says that you can agree to disagree and go to arbitration, that it's not up to the arbitrator to decide whether there is unjust discrimination; again, that's our job under section 33.  Correct?

MR. VELLONE:  I would completely agree.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  That's fine.  So, then, I guess that leads me to the next question, which is then:  We know there are contracts, and we know that they can't deal with unjust discrimination, so why do we care about the contracts?

What we care about is what's the import of the rule amendments and how they change the operation of the market and, to the extent that they change the operation of the market, do those changes amount to unjust discrimination for a participant or a class of participants; right?

Why do we need the contracts to understand that?  That's the heart of what we are here to do, is look at the rules and the amendments and the impact of the amendments.

MR. VELLONE:  It would come down to the submissions I made in writing, which I think OEB Staff also referenced, which is that, when making a determination on unjust economic discrimination, it makes absolutely no sense for the Commission Panel Members to be looking at that question in a hypothetical vacuum, that all of the facts that are pertinent to whether or not there is unjust economic discrimination should be put before the Panel Members and weighed in your ultimate deliberation as to whether or not the proposed amendments are consistent with the purposes of the Electricity Act.

And, as part of my original submissions, I think I put to you a bit of a counterfactual, anticipating this type of question, where I asked whether the Commission would think it's important that there was a procurement contract that in a certain factual instance had the effect of eliminating any unjust economic discrimination for a particular market participant.

And my question to you was:  Would the Panel want to know about that when it was making its determination under this rule, under this provision of the Act, and I think the answer, my position, is yes.  And I think that, frankly, the IESO would be leading with that evidence in that case as opposed to opposing it.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Right, but surely, Mr. Vellone, that's not the situation that we are faced with.  I mean I think -- correct me if I am wrong, but I think I heard the IESO say that the contracts aren't a solution to the unjust discrimination answer.  They may be a solution to other impacts that come from the market rule amendments, but, with respect to the unjust discrimination issue, that's a question that -- that's your onus, to demonstrate that the amendments have that effect, regardless of what's in the contracts.  So am I missing something?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.  Yes, I think -- and maybe it will come further through the evidentiary discovery portion of this proceeding, Commissioner Moran.  But the contracts are drafted and operate in such a way that they -- like, they make reference to market outcomes.  They incorporate them into the formulas.  They operate in such a way that I don't know how I present credible evidence to this Panel of Commissioners on the actual economic impacts of a set of market rule amendments without considering both the amendments and the impacts of the contracts.

You will have seen in my application that I have been very careful to separate those, so you can kind of think a way about both buckets in your head.  But I do not think that the second bucket is just completely irrelevant or outside of the OEB's jurisdiction to consider.  That's the premise of my position.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Well, leaving aside the question of jurisdiction, the part I am trying to understand and trying to give you an opportunity to address for me, Mr. Vellone, is the extent to which it's relevant.  We have got the market rules.  They change the way the market operates.  And we need to understand what those changes add up to, and then that's not enough because that doesn't answer the question about whether it results in unjust discrimination.

The impact of the rules is what we have to examine, so, in that bucket, are we not able to come to a conclusion on that one?  I mean, I heard your submission earlier where you said, well, the market rules by themselves are discriminatory.  And that's -- and we are going to demonstrate that.  And then you said, "and separately from that," you keep saying separately from that, the contracts just make it worse.

So, I guess the question is:  Do we -- are we looking at the first question and do we need to welcome at the second question?  I mean, if they are unjust, they are unjust.  Why do we need to see if it's even worse under the contract?  I guess that's the part I am trying to understand.  How far do we go in order to understand that is an impact?  It's a --


MR. VELLONE:  I think if I were to be candid, Commissioner Moran, I think the decision in writing your decision about how far go in your analysis or how far you need to go is one properly charged with the Panel of commissioners.

What I am concerned about is not coming across as somehow misleading, of not somehow giving you all of the facts that are relevant to, potentially, the second stage of that analysis, should you wish to consider and weigh those facts in the context of the overall application.

And I will conclude by saying I've made in my written submissions a few references to the financial viability of the electricity industry as a whole, economic efficiency and cost effectiveness of generation of electricity, and other key aspects that are found not only in the Electricity Act but actually in the Board's own statutory mandate.  And I guess what I am trying to get across is that the interoperation of these contracts with the IESO market rules was a significant concern to the industry back when the OPA and the IESO merged.  You saw how that concern was addressed through certain legislative amendments, and I won't repeat that now.

But it remains a significant concern to my constituency that believe they are being unjustly discriminated against, whether through intention or happenstance I am not going to suggest, but through the passage of time and the decision to lump these all together into one giant bucket of amendments instead of breaking them out in a way that's unjustly discriminatory and inconsistent with the purposes of the Act, in a way that could really deter future investment in generation assets in the future depending on how the commission decides on this issue.  And...

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  I hear the expression of concern, I am just trying to understand what the basis for relevance is, but I hear your answers.  So, thank you.  Those are all my questions.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you very much, Commissioner Moran.  Commissioner Zlahtic?

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  No questions.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  I think we have moved off the scope a little bit here on the issues list and the scope of the proceeding, but we can now proceed on to the next section, which is once again, you, Mr. Vellone, on the evidentiary matters and your request and proposed evidence.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Commissioner Dodds.  I am actually going to turn it over to my colleague, Mr. Colin Boyle, to address this portion of the agenda.

MR. BOYLE:  Good afternoon, can you hear me?

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Yes.
Submissions by Mr. Boyle


MR. BOYLE:  Thank you for having me today.  I, like the IESO earlier, am going to switch horses here, too.  I guess the fundamental submission here is that the NQS Generation Group sought disclosure from the IESO evidence that would be probative -- oh.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Sorry, are you frozen?

MR. BOYLE:  Sorry, I thought I heard, possibly, Lisa jumping in there.  Okay, sorry.  Just some background noise, then.

So, we sought a fairly targeted and focused list of evidence pursuant to section 21 of the OEB Act, and the NQS' view on the legal framework is that the disclosure required under the IESO's licence is the minimum level of information required and the test for further production is whether or not the request is relevant to the application, and that accords with the cases we have cited in our November 14th letter.

I don't intend to go through the long list of information requests.  But rather you have probably seen what we have requested in there and then subsequently appended further positions on those requests of information.  But what I will do is:  The IESO has filed a response further to that list on November 22nd and it seems as though the IESO is disputing the disclosure of that information on two grounds.  First is that the requested information is of contractual nature that cannot be addressed by the OEB in a section 33 review.  And then the second is the IESO is not required to produce information about its underlying analysis of how MRP amendments are unjustly discriminatory, that's the burden of NQS to demonstrate.

So, in respect of the first ground, I'd say that the information request was driven by a desire to understand better why the IESO was proposing to implement MRP amendments when there is clear evidence of economic harm amounting to unjust discrimination against the NQS Generation Group.

So, taken at its face value the IESO states that it doesn't intend to extract financial value from its contracts with the NQS Generation Group, but the -- what has actually occurred may be different from that stated position.  And what we are trying to understand is how the IESO came to that conclusion and what underlying analysis allowed the IESO to draw that conclusion.

So, and then in response to the second ground, which was the fact that the burden rests with NQS.  Again, we point to section 5, subsection 5 of the Electricity Act which says that the IESO is required to operate in a manner that does not unjustly advantage or disadvantage any market participant and so on.  So, this is an obligation that rests throughout and we -- what we are looking to understand is how did the IESO satisfy itself that it complied with this provision?  Because it is an enforceable provision under the OEB Act and non-compliance with that provision can result in OEB enforcement.  So, this question is clearly relevant, in our view, to the matters at issue, and if the IESO didn't do this, then that's also relevant, too.

And then the final point I would like to make is just draw to the attention of the OEB the kind of the peculiar timing of the IESO's application in a March of this year to amend the scope of its licensed disclosure obligations.  It just seems a bit peculiar in terms of the timing and whether or not this may have been strategic in nature, in the NQS's submissions.  So, with that, I am open to take any questions.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you very much, Mr. Boyle.  I don't think there is any other intervenors still attending this meeting; is that correct?  Hearing no answer, I thought they all indicated they would be going.  Staff, you're on for your submissions.
Submissions by Ms. Djurdjevic


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you, Commissioner Dodds.  In the application there was appended a Schedule A which set out the materials that the applicant requested to be produced by the IESO related to, number one, the impact of the MRP amendments on the NQS Generation Group, and, secondly, relating to the consistency of the MRP amendments with the purposes of the Act.

Now, the Applicants filed a letter explaining the rationale for the requested information and presented it in a chart form.  Subsequently the IESO filed a reply submission that reproduced the Applicants' chart and added the IESO's responses to the requested material.  And we have -- just putting this on the screen just so that the Panel can see what we are talking about, we certainly do not intend to address each one of these items.  Although -- Tobias, can you go to next page.

So in this modified chart the IESO provided its input on each of the requested items, and OEB Staff notes that the IESO repeatedly stated that:

"The request pertains to the IESO's analysis and decision making as part of the process of making the MRP amendments, which is outside of the Board's mandate in a section 33 review."

This is the IESO's response to each of the requested items, with the exception of 1(a).

So we don't propose to make a submission on each of the items, but OEB Staff does not agree with the IESO's assessment that every one of the items of information should be excluded on the basis that they were part of IESO's rule-making process, nor do the previous OEB decisions on production support such an approach.

In previous MRA cases, the OEB did order the IESO to produce material which seems similar to what is being requested by the Applicants in this case.  And I am going to just take a minute to talk about the RES case and that, for the benefit of our court reporter, it is spelled RES, R-E-S, short for renewable energy suppliers or sources.

In that case, the rule amendments that were challenged were referred to as the renewable integration amendments.  The rule amendments deal with the dispatching of and the establishment of floor prices for variable generation facilities, i.e., wind and solar.  And the Applicants' generators in that case also had contracts with the OPA.

In that case, the Applicants also filed a motion under Rule 21, requesting that the IESO produce certain information.  The IESO's position in the RES case was that certain portions of the requested evidence go to an issue that is outside the scope of the IESO's mandate and outside the scope of a section 33 review of the market rule amendments.

The OEB heard the motion for evidentiary production and issued its decision on the motion.  This is in Staff's compendium, and we will just move to page 5 of that decision, where the OEB ordered the IESO to produce various lists of materials.  And, again, I won't read all of this finding on the record here, but the Panel can review it more closely after today's hearing.

At the end of page 5, and continuing on to page 6 of that decision, the OEB stated:
"The Board is satisfied that the above materials may be relevant to the issues before the Board; namely, whether the renewable integration amendments are inconsistent with the purposes of the Electricity Act or unjustly discriminate against or in favour of a market participant or class of market participants.  It remains to be determined to what extent the underlying information was considered by the IESO, or to what extent it should have been considered by the IESO.  To be clear, the IESO is required to produce all materials captured by the items above, irrespective of whether or not the IESO considers the materials to be relevant."

And further, on page 7 of that decision, the OEB stated:
"As noted above, the IESO argued that the scope of this proceeding should be established by the Board so as to exclude any consideration of the consequential impacts of the renewable integration amendments on the Applicants (or other market participants) arising from their contracts with the OPA.  The IESO maintained that it did not, and should not, consider those impacts in the market rule amendment process.  The Board is not prepared to make the requested determination at this time in the absence of seeing the materials in the possession of the IESO."

So we can stop sharing the screen.

Now OEB Staff is mindful that in the RES case, the application was withdrawn and no final determination was made by the OEB in that case.  However, the decision is on a pre-hearing matter, namely evidentiary production, so it seems useful, a useful reference in the present case where the Panel is also being asked to deal with production requests.

Turning to the present case, OEB Staff is not saying that the OEB should review the details of the contracts in order to make determinations about the contracts, or to direct the IESO and generators in their contractual negotiations.

However, the OEB will need to consider some evidence to determine if the impact of the MRP amendments results in unjust economic discrimination or inconsistency with the purposes of the Act.

Staff's view on evidentiary matters is related to our view on the scope of the proceeding, and that is that a section 33 review cannot be done in a vacuum, and the OEB review does need to take into account the context of the IESO-administered markets as a whole.

And those are Staff's submissions on this item.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you, very much, Staff.  Commissioner Moran, do you have questions of Staff?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Yes, just a question.

So, throughout the day, various parties have talked about contracts.  And then there is this disclosure request.  And you have talked a lot about contracts and whether that helps us understand the context a bit better.  But the contracts are -- you know, the parties to those contracts are NQS and the IESO, so presumably NQS already has those contracts.

So what are we talking about beyond the contracts that will be relevant to the question of discriminatory impacts that you can point to?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I am not going to make arguments or give evidence for the Applicants, but -- and again relying on Staff's experience with the previous case, in the TCA matter, the issue that was quite extensively debated by the parties, including with expert witnesses, was regarding the out-of-market payments that are available to generators, so this generator cost guarantee which covers their start-up costs, and the fact that DR resources did not have access to those out-of-market payments.

And the argument was that -- from the Applicants, that the existence of those out-of-market sources of funding being available to one group of market participants, and not to the other one, put that other group at a disadvantage in the market.

So, and in this case, they are -- and again, I am not leading evidence for any party here, but the -- it is known that, you know, gas generators do have these out-of-market guarantees that are intended to incentivize them to participate in the market because, otherwise, they could be out of money.

So again, just looking at the cases that have been before the OEB previously, the issue often came up that there is the existence of these out-of-market payments and the existence of these contracts and that, combined with market rule amendments, it sort of provides a lay of the land.  And, in that context, that the OEB decides whether a market rule amendment is unjustly discriminatory or inconsistent with the purpose of the Act.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  So in that fact situation that you refer to us, that was a situation where the people who wanted disclosure actually didn't have access to the contracts.  But that is not the issue here, right?  I mean, NQS obviously has access to the contracts because they are counterparties to them.

So I am trying to understand --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.

COMMISSIONER MORAN: ...what the issue is here that you are suggesting has to be addressed.  Clearly, it can't be about the contracts because NQS has the contracts and already knows about the out-of-market payments because it is their contracts.

Is there anything else that we should have consideration for that you can point to?  And don't feel like you have to point to anything to me --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  No.  And again, I was just -- and I didn't want to, you know, get into the weeds and go through each of the items of requested information.  But they do ask for, you know, the IESO's -- like, you know, whether certain things were considered when the MRP amendments were being made.

And again, that is very similar to the type of information that was requested in the RES case, and that the OEB required to be produced.

Again, at the end of the day, the RES case did not go to a final hearing, so we don't know ultimately whether, you know, the information that the OEB required IESO to produce, whether it was relevant and, you know, was necessary.

But as a preliminary -- like a pre-hearing matter, as a disclosure matter, that was the rule-making process and what, you know, the IESO considered.  And we know there is extensive stakeholdering and a lot of comments by various market participants.

So the questions appear to be about, like, to what extent were market participants concerns addressed.  So it's not just about produce the contracts; we assume that the Applicants have copies of their own contract.  So I don't think that's the issue, but whether they should be produced I guess is the issue, and whether they are relevant.

They can certainly file them, and then the IESO could certainly bring a motion to, you know, have them struck from the evidence, you know, if they succeed in making a case that they are irrelevant and beyond the scope, and not needed for the OEB's review.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Last question, then, on the relevance question.  To the extent that the IESO heard about concerns or didn't hear about complaints or heard about them and did something about it or heard about them and did nothing about it, how does any of that become relevant to the actual result of that process, which is what we have to determine:  Is the result of that process something that results in undue discrimination?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, I don't have a response for that, and, again, this is getting further into what could be evidence, so I just don't want to comment on that.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  That's fine.  Thank you very much.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Commissioner Zlahtic?

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Not for the present.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Just one question for Staff:  On that RES proceeding that you're referring to, did you say it never came to a conclusion?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That's correct.  It was withdrawn at some point before it went to a final hearing.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  So what we are talking about is just a procedure and a process that was taking place but never came to a finding?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.  It was a decision on a motion, right, so, there was a motion by the applicant for production, so the OEB -- it was a decision on the motion and a procedural order.  And, yes, it's in our compendium.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you, Panel.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  I think this would be a good time to take a 15-minute break because we are going to be coming back with the evidentiary matters and NQS disclosure and probably reply or at least rebuttal from IESO, and so we will reconvene at 3:10.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 2:55 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:10 p.m.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  We are moving on now to Item Number 21, the Agenda Item Number 4, evidentiary matters, NQS disclosure request and proposed intervenor evidence, and this is from IESO.
EVIDENTIARY MATTERS - NQS DISCLOSURE REQUEST AND PROPOSED INTERVENOR EVIDENCE
Submissions by Mr. Duffy


MR. DUFFY:  Good afternoon, Commissioner Dodds.  It's Patrick Duffy, and I will be handling this issue for the IESO.

The IESO's perspective on this is that the request under section 21 must be informed by a couple of key principles, and the first is that the scope of the Board's review here in this proceeding is to focus on the impact of the market rule amendments and not the process.  So, that needs to be one driving consideration.  And the second one is that the burden of proof lies with the Applicant.  Both of these propositions are well established and we will walk through them a little bit during my submissions today.  But the reason I say that those inform the scope of the section 21 application is because you must keep those principles in mind when you look at the requests, and I will actually look at some of the requests during our time, unlike the others, because what you will see in them, and what they attempt to do is flip the burden of proof, and demand that the IESO produce documents and give answers about its process.  And I am not saying that the IESO doesn't have to produce anything with respect to its process or could never be ordered with respect to that, but the question you must ask yourself is:  How relevant is that to the analysis that this Panel must perform, which is looking at the impact of the amendment?  Not whether certain considerations were given during the process.  Not how the IESO balanced off various stakeholder interest.  It is about the result and the impact and, ultimately, the allegations that are being made by the Applicants in this proceeding.

And what you will see as we go through it is that we have here a rather disparate series of requests that I would submit to you, and I think is rather obvious from the context that the Applicants have put in, that don't meet that test.  And it's for that reason that the IESO has declined to produce the documentation.

There were three bases opinion which the IESO declined the request.  I -- those are outlined in our submission and I am going to ask if I would be permitted to share my screen here.  All right.

So, you will see at paragraph 23 of our submission, the three grounds on which the IESO has reviewed a request and you will know we put in a table that goes through each one of the requests individually, but at a high level there were three basic problems that we had.  The first one being a number of the requests sought an IESO analysis, a decision-making processes, relating to negotiating contract amendments with the Applicants.  And you obviously heard a lot today about the role and scope of those contractual processes in this proceeding, I won't repeat all of that, but I will come back and just touch on it a little bit as I go through.

The second one being the IESO's analysis and decision-making processes relating to the impact of various MRP amendments on the Applicants' contracts.  And so, again, you've got a mix here of looking at the decision-making processes and the contractual matters.

And the third one, which kind of stands on its own, and we will highlight a couple of those that fall into this category for you, review of the design of the Applicants' current deemed dispatch contract model as compared to contract models used in other competitive wholesale markets, and, indeed, in other procurements run by the IESO.

So, I will highlight each one of those for you as we go through.  And to be clear, many of the requests have --


COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Excuse me.  Sorry, Mr. Duffy.  Sorry to interrupt you.  For the benefit of us reading the transcript after and the court reporter, can you reference the document you're speaking from, please?

MR. DUFFY:  Oh, no trouble.  That would be our reply submission that was filed on Friday.  And paragraph 23.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Okay, thank you.

MR. DUFFY:  Yes, no trouble.  And so, I want to break each one of those down and walk us through each one of them.  And I think the appropriate starting point here is to go back to the first rule review, which was the 3 times Ramp Rate decision made by this Board back in 2007.

What happened there was that the IESO was ordered in the course of the proceeding to produce a tremendous amount of documentation relating to its stakeholdering process based on allegations made by the Applicant in that situation.  And, ultimately, they arrived at a hearing and there was a ruling made on the first day as to what the scope of the Board's review is under section 33 and then the relevance of these materials.

And so, what I am going to turn up next is that decision.  And so, for reference it will be found in our document brief that was filed on Friday, and it can be found at Tab 1 of that document brief.

And I am going to ask us all -- and I will share it on the screen, I will just make sure I am in the right spot.  Just so that we have this reference point, so this is the Board's decision in the 3 times Ramp Rate case, as I said, it is in our document brief.

And what I want to highlight here is that what is the role, ultimately, of the Board in its mandate, as you can see under the heading, the Board's mandate when it comes to reviewing the IESO's process.  And I have highlighted the second paragraph there just to give us a little bit of background.  I want to spend a bit of time with this case because I think it is important.

"So as the proceeding progressed it became clear that AMPCO's views", and AMPCO was the applicant in that situation, "as to the scope of the Board's mandates differed markedly from other parties.  A number of the concerns raised by AMPCO regarding the amendment relate not to the impact or the effect of the amendment, but rather to the process by which the amendment was made by the IESO.  And many of the materials filed by the IESO in response to the Board's procedural orders are relevant to those concerns, but have little or no relevance to the issue of impact or effect on the amendment."
 So, that was what the issue was in dispute.  As you may be aware, the Board then -- I am going to go forward to the next page, just for reference, for the transcript, page 10 of the Board's decision, and the 3 times Ramp Rate case:
"On March 29, 2007, the Board rendered an oral decision on this issue.  Specifically, the Board determined that its mandate under section 33 of the Act is limited to an examination of the market rule amendment against the criteria in 33(9).  The Board also ordered any evidence relating to the IESO's stakeholdering process, and that included AMPCO's submission, be struck from the record."

And then an excerpt from the transcript of the oral decision is attached.  I am going to refer you to that in minute.  And you will note for the next paragraph that the parties ultimately agree to a list of materials that would be struck from the record.  I happened to be the lawyer at the IESO at that time, and I can tell you it was quite an extensive amount of material that got struck.

The point I want to make here is that in that situation they waited until the hearing, but we have the guidance and benefit of this decision now and there is no reason why we should wait to the hearing.  And Board Staff took you to the oral decision, but I want to just back up because I think there's a little bit more to the oral decision on that that than was displayed earlier.


So, in that same volume, at that same tab, at the end of the decision, it's called Appendix A, and it's an excerpt from the oral transcript held on March 29th.  There is obviously an extract from the transcript.  And, again, what was at argument here, and you can see this, so this would be page 85 of the transcript, AMPCO argued the materials produced by the IESO relating to procedural matters were relevant both to procedural fairness and to the substantive issues.

There were two -- and I commend you to take some time and read this.  There were really two concerns there.  And one was that whether the IESO had followed its own stakeholdering process, and the second one was whether the IESO had violated procedural fairness and natural justice as a matter of common law.  And it is that second one that Board Staff referred you to earlier.

But I think what's just as important is to look at the first point.  So, the allegation was that the IESO did not comply with its statutorily mandated stakeholdering process.  So, I would submit to you that's not that different than what you're hearing from the Applicant here when they are referring to sections 5.4 and 5.5 of the Act.  And I would just note a couple of things about that.

First of all, section 5.4 and 5.5 are apparently so important that they do not appear in the actual application and I don't think they appeared in any documentation, but I may be incorrect.  But I don't think they appeared in any of the documentation up to this point.  But, secondly, this isn't actually an enforcement proceeding by the Board.  And so, this isn't an application to enforce that, this is an application under 33.

So, what did the Board have to say about what we do?  So, I am going to turn you next to page 87, and the "they" here would be the parties who took the opposite view of AMPCO:

"They say that the OEB should be reviewing an amendment to the IESO rules and not the IESO stakeholdering process, that the scope of the Board's review should be aimed at the rule itself, and the impact of that rule, not the process by which the amendment was made. In other words, it's argued before us that the issue is whether the rule is unjustly discriminatory.  And the Board agrees with that position."

And importantly, the Board goes on then to talk about sections 19 and 20.  And you will see a couple of paragraphs down, line 20, this is where the IESO was citing from:

"Accordingly, we find that section 33(9) of the Electricity Act is a jurisdiction-limiting provision, not another jurisdiction-granting provision.  That is, with respect to a market rule amendment, the Board's jurisdiction is not as broad as suggested by section 20, but limited by 33(9)."

And the Board then goes on to say:

"In this regard, the Board has also considered the submission of various parties and agrees that a 60-day time limit for disposing of this review is consistent with the conclusion that scope of review is limited to those criteria set out in section 33(9).  The legislature can be taken as having known that an exhaustive review of the process would render it impossible to meet these timelines."

And what I would like to note for you is that if you continue down in the transcript, you will find later on the section that Board Staff quoted for you about not being a parallel Divisional Court.  And that is actually about a separate consideration on the application of the common law doctrine, procedural fairness.

So there were two separate and distinct issues, but the Board was very clear that process, that the process that the IESO follows is not within the scope.  What we are to be focused on is the impact of the review.

And that has held consistent throughout, as we know from the other decisions.

What I next want to talk about is the RES decision that Board Staff also brought up.  And there was a suggestion in that case that, of course, the IESO was ordered to produce documents related on similar allegations about contractual provisions.  So I actually take issue with that presentation of the case.

So next, I am going to open up for you the decision on the renewable supply generators case, and you saw it earlier from Board Staff.  It was provided by Board Staff as part of their compendium yesterday.  So I will open that for you.

I am going to take you here now to page -- just to orientate you, page 7.  The Board Staff read through and took you through the decision.  So this was a preliminary decision made early on for the IESO production of documentation requested by the Applicants.

What I want to highlight for you is that I think there are some distinguishing characteristics of this decision, and that you shouldn't necessarily just feel like you have to follow this process.  And Board Staff read the first part of the first paragraph that you see there on the screen.  But I want to take you to the highlighted portion which wasn't read to you, where the Board said, after ordering the production, it said:

"If this proceeding were not under a statutory time constraint", and I want to note that at that time it was 60 days, not 120, "the Board might take the approach of conducting a preliminary inquiry into the scope of the issues prior to filing of evidence and the exchange of interrogatories.  However, given the time constraint, the approach proposed by the IESO could result in disclosure being completed only a very short time before the Board is required to issue its order in this proceeding.  That would be unfair to the applicants and compromise the ability of the Board to appropriately consider the evidence and the issues before issuing its order."


So I think we have to take this case with a grain of salt; it was a preliminary decision, but it was also very clear that it was being driven at that time by the statutory time constraint.

We have a bit more time here.  And the Board should take the opportunity in this situation to be more considered in its ability, in thinking about how one -- sorry, the should be more considered in what it orders to be disclosed in this situation.

So I wouldn't take this renewable energy supply generators case is any sort of any precedent to say this is the expectation.  It was specific to the circumstances in play in that situation, and there is no reason why this Board shouldn't depart from that, and be a more proactive approach early on, because we have the time.  And I think, as we saw from the earlier discussions today, it will help scope the proceeding overall.

So that then takes me to what are the specific requests that have been made and why are we objecting to them.  And what I want to do is just highlight a few of them for you, because I think they show and demonstrate that this ultimately is about the IESO's process.  And as I said earlier, it is an attempt to effectively flip the burden and say that the IESO has to show up here and defend its process, which is not the case as we have just seen.

So I am going to take you to appendix A to our submission; it is our reply submission filed on Friday.  This is the table that you have been referenced to, appendix A, with respect to the information requests.

And I can just highlight a few of them for you.  So the first one, 1(a), gets to the IESO's stated intention of not extracting financial value from the contracts and, with the Applicants, how that was a considered, planned and executed under MRP.

And if you look at the Applicants' position on it, they are very clear that the purpose of this is to allow the OEB, the Applicants and all other parties to better understand whether that stated intention throughout, whether the IESO's stated intention of not extracting -- sorry, whether the IESO's stated intention throughout the MRP process of not extracting financial value from contracted assets was adhered to internally and in public correspondence throughout the entire stakeholdering process, as well as support from internal analysis.

So clearly, it is getting at the process.  And that is what they are asking about.

And if we turn to 1(b), we see something similar.  It's a similar question about the IESO's stated intent of maintaining the allocation of risk and reward.  And if we look at the position in the middle column there:

"The OEB, the Applicants and all other parties need to understand whether the IESO undertook a detailed analysis on the financial impact."

And I not going to read any further.  The point is it's going to what did the IESO do in making the amendment; what was that process?

The same thing with (c).  Again, if you look at the middle column:

"The OEB, the Applicants and all other parties need to understand if the IESO undertook a detailed analysis on these programs."

Again, that all goes to process.  And I can go on and on through each one of them, right?  So the same one with (d).  You will see:

"The Applicants submit the OEB, the Applicants and all other parties need to understand how the IESO considered, analyzed and modelled the potential financial risk and any internal analysis."

So, if you go through each one of them, there is no attempt here that I can see to justify how these relate to the need for the Applicants to prove their case about impact.  They are all about what process did the IESO follow, what considerations did the IESO take into account in making these rule amendments and, importantly, what strategies in some situations did the IESO follow in dealing with its contractual amendments.

And I mentioned to you that there were a couple of ones that even go further than that.  And I will just highlight those; this gets to our third, the third concern I read from paragraph 23, earlier.

So you will see in 1(j), which is now at the top of the screen in the table, the request -- so on the information request column:

"The request was for the review of the design of current deemed dispatch contracts with NQS Generators compared with contracts with similar NQS assets in other competitive wholesale markets."

So this is quite an outlier because now we are going not just to the effect and impact of the market rule or even the contracts, but to a comparison with other markets.

And you will see again if you read the position of the Applicants, they are trying to get at, did the IESO consider the unique characteristics of the Ontario market.

And if we go to another one, so 2(d), it requests design or changes to the contracts included in the long-term and medium-term procurements in response to the MRP amendments.

And so, once again, these are now seeking -- this is now seeking information, an analysis from the IESO that is not about the market rule amendments, and it is not even about their own contracts.  It's about other people's contracts, other contracts.

And, again, what's the context?  The context is the OEB, the Applicants and all other parties need to understand why the IESO has moved to a different contract structure.

So I would say we are clearly now getting well outside of the boundaries of anything that could be considered relevant to the impact of the contracts in terms of proving financial -- sorry, unjust economic discrimination and purposes with the Act.

And I won't go through every one of them but, you know, as you will see if you read the table, the same sort of issues and same complaints come up with all of them, and they really do seek information and analysis from the IESO that goes well beyond anything that we can understand, and no effort has really been made to justify why this information is needed by the applicants to prove their case.

I would make one final comment before I close.  There was a curious comment made by Mr. Boyle, speculating that the timing of the change to the IESO's licence earlier this year, which reduced the amount of disclosure that is required as part of its licence filing -- I think he said it was curious.  So, to be clear, that was a decision, a public decision, made by the Board, in which APPrO participated.  Other applicants could have participated.  And, the timing, I mean it is quite evident if you read the decision as to what the rationale and purpose of it was.

Again, the market rule amendment process carried on for, as we have all heard now, multiple years, stakeholdering, and so the purpose of the amendment was really to try to narrow and scope it down to the core materials that were put before the IESO Board for when it made its decision.  And the real purpose of those materials is to allow the parties to have a grounding and a background in the amendment so that they can understand and that the Commissioners can understand what is really at issue here.

It does not mean that it is the totality of the IESO's evidence by any means, and, ultimately, it is for the applicant to come forward and rely on that material.

I would also note that there is a tonne of materials that were made public as part of the market rule amendment process, and they can certainly gather what they need and make their case.  We, again, haven't seen anything that says:  We are missing this piece; that's critical to our analysis.

We don't even really have a concept as to why this information is needed, and the Board, I would submit to you, shouldn't be ordering broad disclosure on the theory that, well, maybe it's relevant, because that just gets us into a 3-times Ramp Rate case.  We are going to be at the end, and we are going to be throwing it all back out again, just so it's not an efficient process.  And we have a bit of time here in order to make those determinations.

If you just give me one second, just one final thing that Mr. Zacher reminds me I would be remiss if I didn't mention before we close today on this point, and that has to do with the characterization of the TCA case.  And, by that, I mean the transitional capacity auction review that was conducted by this Board in 2019.  And, just to be clear, what that was about was not about out-of-market contracts, and, to the extent that any disclosure was ordered in that case or made evidence by the IESO, it wasn't about out-of-market market contracts.

The issue in that situation was that it was all within the market; it was all within the scope of the market rules; there were certain rules that had been made at the time of market opening, by the Minister, and those were shielded.  Those are shielded, under the Act, from review, and so the question in that situation was the overlap between the new rules and the rules that weren't subject to review.  And, ultimately, that's -- ultimately, none of it was found to be discriminatory, so it was never really an issue that the Board needed to weigh into and how you would fashion a remedy between these two things.

But I should just close and be clear that TCA did not involve out of market contracts in any way whatsoever, and we just wanted to make that point clear.  Thank you.  Happy to take any questions.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you very much, Mr. Duffy.  Commissioner Moran?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Chair.  You know, Mr. Duffy, OEB Staff made the comment that we ought not to make a decision in a vacuum.  I think that's probably something we would easily agree to.  Mr. Vellone has suggested on behalf of his clients that all these documents that you have walked us through in your submissions are necessarily to avoid looking at something in a vacuum.  Are we at risk of looking at these issues in a vacuum without that information?

I am just interested in what you would say is the feature of this process, from your perspective, that would lead to a conclusion that that's not an issue, if you could help us understand that.

MR. DUFFY:  Yes, so I would again maybe categorize them, the three categories that we pointed out.  So the first -- maybe I will work backwards through them.

The ones with respect to other contracts in other jurisdictions or other procurements, I struggle on; I am at a loss.  I don't see how that is necessary to assess the impact of these rules.

The second, as I said working backwards, the second one is about the IESO's rule-making process.  Again, this is about the impact, not about the rule-making process, so I think maybe what your -- maybe what the crux of your question is:  Well, what about the contracts, and what about the impact under the contracts, and do we not need to know those?

And earlier, when Mr. Vellone said to you -- he put it in two ways.  He said, well, they can be, the rules can be, discriminatory in their own right, and then they can be made worse by contracts.  And you had an exchange with him on that, but I actually want to put a scenario back that I think illustrates the difficulty that the applicants run into.

So what happens if this Board rules that the market rules are not discriminatory in their own right but then finds that they are discriminatory with the contracts, when considering the contracts?  So is that an analysis that you would have jurisdiction to carry on and continue?  And, if you did, well, what would you do?

Because the remedy would be to presumably amend the contracts, which you don't have the power to do.  So this is where I say, if we start to get into looking at the analysis under the contracts, like, how does that help us or assist us?  The focus needs to be on:  Are the market rules discriminatory in their own right?

We are certainly not saying you examine them in a vacuum.  But it is for the applicants to make out their case, to come here, to bring evidence that demonstrates that they are suffering economic discrimination.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  I don't have any further questions.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Commissioner Zlahtic?

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  No, I have no questions.
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PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you very much.  Now, we move on to the next section.  I think we are going to need Staff involved in this a little bit to keep a record, because there have been a number of proposals for schedule.  Maybe we will start off with the first one, is with NQS's proposed schedule.  Do you have something that you can put on the screen or that you have already submitted?

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Actually, I have a suggestion.  Perhaps we should put up the table that NQS included in their submission, because I think it's a very fair representation.  It has the IESO's proposed schedule changes and NQS's all-in-one document.  I think it's the one thing that's not in dispute today.  Well, the document, that is.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Commissioner Zlahtic.  You have brought us to exactly where I was hoping to go in any submissions on the procedural issues.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Mr. Vellone, I didn't want you to think that we don't read, either.
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MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  We attempted to produce this to be helpful, to show both the IESO's proposed changes highlighted in yellow as well as our proposed changes to the IESO's proposed changes, again highlighted in yellow.

I will start from the premise of what has informed the NQS Generation Group's proposed schedule, and I think it would be fair to say that no party in this proceeding disputes that, as the applicants, the NQS Generation Group bears the burden of proof to produce evidence sufficient to demonstrate that the proposed MRP amendments are unjustly discriminatory or inconsistent with the purposes of the Electricity Act.  We carry the burden of proof.

As a consequence of that, it is my submission that the NQS Generation Group is owed a minimum degree of procedural fairness in this process.  Perhaps we could zoom in on this so that folks with better eyes, with not-as-good eyes -- thank you.

So I just want to go down through the schedule from the top, and the first is maybe an obvious point but deciding on what the Panel determines as it relates to the section 21 disclosure request, the IESO may be obliged to disclose additional information as part of this proceeding.  It would be our contention that the IESO should do this prior to the deadline for the Applicants to file our evidence so that we have the benefit of the full material record prior to preparing and filing our evidence.  So, that is meant to be primarily a placeholder, pending the outcome of your decision.

I will move further down that table to the row titled "IESO's Responding Evidence."  We saw the letter from counsel to the IESO requesting to push that date out to January 6, 2025.  We understand the practical concerns that are likely driving that request and we have no objections.

Moving to the technical conference, we saw the IESO's request to, in effect, delay the start of the technical conference in a response to their request to delay their filing of evidence and we agree that seems appropriate.

And, finally, we, under the hearing row, we noticed the IESO pushed the hearing dates out by a few days, I believe to give sufficient time between the technical conference and the actual oral hearing.  And, again, we have no objections to that.

Proceeding down to the next page, the key area of disagreement between the parties relates to the order of submissions after the evidentiary phase of this proceeding has been completed.  And, in my submissions, it makes no sense that if the NQS Generation Group bears the burden of proof in this application that we will not and do not know the positions of OEB Staff or the intervenors until February 3rd, with no ability whatsoever to reply to those submissions.  Similarly, we, as the Applicants, will not understand the totality of the IESO's arguments until, under their proposal, February 14th, with, again, no right of reply.  Sorry, February 10th.  With, again, no right of reply.  As a consequence we have asked to switch those dates.

The schedule proposed by the IESO is, frankly, ascribing a level of prescience to me, as counsel, that simply does not exist.  I do not and cannot know what the positions the IESO, OEB Staff, or the other intervenors in this proceeding will ultimately take nor do I understand how I satisfy my burden of proof without a meaningful right of reply.  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.  Any questions from commissioners?  Commissioner Moran?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Just a quick question.  So, I take your point, I mean, obviously you should have a right of reply, just in terms of the dates.  So, I think, clearly, people need to know what your argument-in-chief is, then parties should reply to that, and then you're suggesting that -- and then you get reply to the other parties.  That's essentially what you're saying; right?  You are still going to get your -- you're not suggesting we don't get argument-in-chief from you; right?

MR. VELLONE:  It's not in my schedule, but I have no objections to jamming an argument-in-chief between January 20th and February 10th.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Right.  Because I assume the other parties will say exactly the same thing that you did, that they can't reply, put in their submissions, until they see what your case is; right?  All right.  I just wanted to clarify that.  So, I think, in concept, what I hear you saying is:  Argument-in-chief, responding arguments and then reply from NQS.  Okay, thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  That is correct, with what I would say is a subtle difference.  Which is the IESO's submissions going in before the other parties, so that they have the benefit of both.  Considering our argument-in-chief, as well as the IESO's reply before they make their submissions.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.  Commissioner Zlahtic?

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Yes, just a bit of clarification.  It may be the time of day and feeling a bit thick as a brick right now.  In the row that you -- that's added presentation of oral argument, I am getting a note that we thought it was fixed.  This presentation of oral argument, is this restricted to the Applicant making its reply?

MR. VELLONE:  No, I doubt it.  This was a row added, I can see in the yellow column there, by the IESO in their proposal and we had no objection to it.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  Okay, got it, thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Okay.  Reply or questions from IESO?
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MR. ZACHER:  Thank you, Commissioner Dodds.  So, Commissioner Moran, I think anticipated the question we had which is that, given that the NQS group are the Applicants, they should first be filing an argument-in-chief.  So, I think Mr. Vellone has agreed to that.  And then, as the Board has laid out, makes sense that the -- any intervenors and Board Staff file their arguments thereafter, and then subsequently the IESO.

The only point I would make about reply is that I don't disagree that the Applicant ought to have a right to reply, but given the fact that we have integrated into this proposed schedule presentation of oral argument, that provides the Applicant with an opportunity to reply at the outset of oral argument, and typically replies are fairly limited in scope, in any event.  So, that is -- so, in effect, we recommend keeping the schedule as it was, as we've proposed.

The only other suggested tweak we would make to it is, on the first page, you have the Applicants' evidence on, I guess, December 11th, followed by OEB Staff and intervenor evidence.  It sounds like there are no intervenors who are going to put in evidence, save for possibly FirstLight, if they are permitted to.  They are supportive of the Applicants, and so we would suggest to the extent they are permitted to put in any evidence, which we oppose, that that evidence go in contemporaneously with the Applicants' on December 11th.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.  Any other suggestions, IESO?

MR. ZACHER:  No, those are it, Commissioner Dodds.  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you very much.  Now, there are no intervenors here to weigh in on the schedules, so I guess, Staff, will you put this together?  Summarize the proposals and then, I guess, we will have to make a decision on that fairly soon.  Is that correct, Staff?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, Commissioner Dodds.  Staff will attend to that.

And, while I have got the microphone, there is a final sort of a bit of a preliminary matter.  My fault, I did not name, assign, exhibit numbers to the documents as they were referred to in the course of today's hearing, but I would suggest if the Panel -- if nobody has any objections that I review the transcript and make the list of exhibits and which every will see, and hopefully nobody will have any objections.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Are the parties fine with that?  NQS, IESO?

MR. VELLONE:  I think so, yes.

MR. ZACHER:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  I guess that, at this stage, concludes our pre-hearing conference.  Thank you very much, everyone.  It was very useful.  I think these exchanges before a proceeding are quite helpful to some degree, at least I do as a commissioner, to hear a lot of this before all the evidence starts coming in.  So, once again, thank you very much.  And good day, everyone.
--- Whereupon the matter adjourned at 3:51 p.m.
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